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ARGENTA

ARGENTA SPAARBANK SA/NV
incorporated with limited liability

EUR 7,500,000,000
Belgian Mortgage Pandbrieven Programme

Under the EUR 7,500,000,000 Belgian Mortgage Pandbrieven Programme (the “Programme”) described in this base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”), Argenta
Spaarbank SA/NV (“Argenta Spaarbank”, “ASPA” or the “Issuer”), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to
time issue Belgian pandbrieven (Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage belges) /| European covered bonds (premium) (Europese gedekte obligatie
(premium)/obligation garantie européenne (de qualité supérieure)) (the “Mortgage Pandbrieven”) in accordance with the Belgian law of 25 April 2014 on the
status and supervision of credit institutions and stockbroking firms (the “Belgian Banking Law”) and its executing royal decrees and regulations (the “Belgian
Covered Bonds Regulations”). The Mortgage Pandbrieven are transferable securities within the meaning of Article 2(a) of the Prospectus Regulation and article
4(1)(44) of Directive 2014/65/EU. The aggregate outstanding principal amount of Mortgage Pandbrieven will not at any time exceed EUR 7,500,000,000 (as at
the date of issuance of the Mortgage Pandbrieven), subject to increase as described herein.

This Base Prospectus is a base prospectus for purposes of Article 8(1) of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June
2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/E
(the Prospectus Regulation) and has been drawn up in accordance with Article 8 of the Prospectus Regulation. This Base Prospectus (which expression shall
include this Base Prospectus as amended and/or supplemented from time to time and all documents incorporated by reference herein) has been approved as a base
prospectus for the admission of the Mortgage Pandbrieven to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange by the Commission de
Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”), as competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation. The CSSF only approves this Base Prospectus as
meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the CSSF should not be considered
as an endorsement of the Issuer or of the quality of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the
Mortgage Pandbrieven. In accordance with Article 6(4) of the Luxembourg act dated 16 July 2019 on prospectuses for securities (the “Luxembourg Law on
Prospectus”), by approving this Base Prospectus, in accordance with Article 20 of the Prospectus Regulation, the CSSF does not make any representation in
respect of the economic or financial opportunity of the operation or the quality and solvency of the Issuer. The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved the
information contained in this Base Prospectus in relation to any issuance of any Mortgage Pandbrieven that are not to be listed on the official list of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Market”) and for which a
prospectus is not required in accordance with the Prospectus Regulation. In relation to any Mortgage Pandbrieven, this Base Prospectus must be read as a
whole and together with the relevant Final Terms (as defined below). Any Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Base
Prospectus are issued subject to the provisions described or incorporated by reference herein. Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
for Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Programme for the period of twelve months from the date of this Base Prospectus to be listed on the official list of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Market or, if specified in the relevant Final Terms, on a specific segment of the Market to which only
qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) have access (the “Professional Segment”). References in this Base Prospectus to Mortgage
Pandbrieven being “listed” (and all related references), except where the context otherwise requires, shall mean that such Mortgage Pandbrieven have been listed
and admitted to trading on the Market or, if applicable, the Professional Segment. The Market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU on
markets in financial instruments (as amended, “MiFID II”). No certainty can be given that the application for the listing of any Mortgage Pandbrieven will be
granted. Furthermore, admission of the Mortgage Pandbrieven to the official list and trading on the Market is not an indication of the merits of the Issuer or the
Mortgage Pandbrieven. Unlisted Mortgage Pandbrieven may also be issued pursuant to the Programme. The relevant Final Terms in respect of the issue of any
Mortgage Pandbrieven will specify whether or not such Mortgage Pandbrieven will be listed on the official list and admitted to trading on the Market or the
Professional Segment (or any other stock exchange).

The Supervisory Authority (as defined in “General description of the Programme”) has admitted the Issuer to the list of credit institutions that are authorised to
issue covered bonds (available on the website of the National Bank of Belgium (the “NBB”) at https:/www.nbb.be/nl/financieel-toezicht/prudentieel-
toezicht/toezichtsdomeinen/kredietinstellingen/lijsten-2#bm_Header 0) and the NBB has admitted the Programme to the list of authorised programmes for the
issuance of covered bonds under the category Belgian pandbrieven (Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage belges) / European covered bonds (premium) (Europese
gedekte obligatie (premium)/obligation garantie européenne (de qualité supérieure)) (available on the website of the NBB at https:/www.nbb.be/nl/financieel-
toezicht/prudenticel-toezicht/toezichtsdomeinen/kredietinstellingen/lijsten/door-de). Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Programme will constitute Belgian
pandbrieven / European covered bonds (premium) under the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations and will as such be included in the list of the NBB.

This Base Prospectus received approval from the CSSF on 30 September 2022 and will be valid for 12 months from the date of its approval by the CSSF
in relation to Mortgage Pandbrieven which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”). This Base
Prospectus is valid until 30 September 2023. The obligation to supplement this Base Prospectus in the event of a significant new factor, material mistake
or material inaccuracy does not apply when this Base Prospectus is no longer valid.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued in dematerialised form in accordance with the Belgian Companies and Associations Code (Wetboek van
Vennootschappen en Verenigingen/Code des Sociétés et des Associations) and will be represented by a book entry in the records of the clearing system operated
by the NBB or any successor thereto (the “Securities Settlement System”).

Each Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven may on issuance be assigned a rating by S&P Global Ratings, acting through S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited
(“Standard & Poor’s”). Standard & Poor’s is established in the European Union and is registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on credit
rating agencies, as amended (the “CRA Regulation”) published on the European Securities and Markets Authority’s (“ESMA”) website (Wwww.esma.europa.eu).
Standard & Poor’s is not established in the United Kingdom but the ratings it will issue with respect to the Mortgage Pandbrieven will be endorsed by S&P Global
Ratings UK Limited, which is established in the United Kingdom and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it forms part of UK domestic law by
virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the “UK CRA Regulation™). As such, the ratings issued by Standard & Poor’s may be used for regulatory
purposes in the United Kingdom in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation.

Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven (as defined in “General description of the Programme”) to be issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a
Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven is to be rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to other Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven.
Whether or not a rating in relation to any Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven will be treated as having been issued by a credit rating agency established in the European
Union or the United Kingdom and registered under the CRA Regulation or the UK CRA Regulation, as applicable, will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms.
A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning
rating agency.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or any
U.S. state securities laws and, unless so registered, may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons as
defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act (“Regulation S”) except pursuant to an exemption from or in a transaction not subject to the registration
requirements of the Securities Act and applicable U.S. state securities laws.

No analysis has been undertaken with respect to the status of the Issuer and the Special Estate for purposes of the regulations adopted under Section 13 of the
Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (commonly known as the "Volcker Rule"). Accordingly, no assurance is provided as to whether either or both
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of the Issuer and the Special Estate may be a “covered fund” for purposes of the Volcker Rule. None of the Issuer, the Parent, the Arranger, the Dealers or any
other party makes any representation or provides any assurances with respect to the status of the Issuer or the Special Estate for purposes of the Volcker Rule. Any
prospective investor in the Mortgage Pandbrieven, including a U.S. or foreign bank or a subsidiary or other affiliate thereof, should consult its own legal advisers
regarding the Volcker Rule and its effects.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available, and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available,
in Belgium to “c s” (c teurs/c ten) within the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Code de droit économique/Wetboek
van economisch recht), as amended.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Accordingly prospective investors in the Mortgage Pandbrieven should decide for
themselves whether they want to invest in the Mortgage Pandbrieven and, as the case may be, obtain advice from a financial intermediary in that respect, in which
case the relevant intermediary will have to determine whether or not the Mortgage Pandbrieven are a suitable investment for them.

The issue price and amount of the relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven will be determined at the time of the offering of each Tranche based on the then prevailing
market conditions.

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Base Prospectus, setting out certain
risks in relation to the Issuer and the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Arranger
Belfius Bank SA/NV

Dealers
Belfius Bank SA/NV
Barclays

Landesbank Baden-Wiirttemberg
Natixis

Base Prospectus dated 30 September 2022



IMPORTANT INFORMATION
GENERAL

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Mortgage Pandbrieven in any Member State
of the EEA and the United Kingdom (the “UK” and each a “Relevant State”) will be made pursuant to an
exemption under the Prospectus Regulation and UK Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to publish a
prospectus for offers of Mortgage Pandbrieven. When used in this Base Prospectus, Prospectus Regulation means
Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 and UK Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of
UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA”). Accordingly, any person
making or intending to make an offer in a Relevant State of Mortgage Pandbrieven which are the subject of an
offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by the final terms (“Final Terms”) in relation to the
offer of those Mortgage Pandbrieven may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer
or any Dealer (as defined in “GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME” below) to publish a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23
of the Prospectus Regulation, in each case in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has
authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Mortgage Pandbrieven in circumstances in which an
obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. This Base
Prospectus has been prepared on the basis of Annexes 7, 15 and 28 to Commission Regulation (EU) 2019/980.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein
by reference (see “Documents incorporated by reference”). This Base Prospectus shall be read and construed on
the basis that such documents are incorporated by reference into, and form part of, this Base Prospectus. This
Base Prospectus should be read and construed together with any supplements hereto and, in relation to any
Tranche of Mortgage Pandbrieven, should be read and construed together with the relevant Final Terms.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see “Documents
incorporated by reference”), the information on the websites to which this Base Prospectus refers does not form
part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the CSSF.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus and the Final Terms for
each Tranche of Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer,
the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and the Base Prospectus makes
no omission likely to affect the import of such information.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers or the Arranger accepts any responsibility for the
contents of this Base Prospectus or for any other statement made, or purported to be made, by the Arranger or a
Dealer or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer or the issue and offering of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. The
Arranger and each Dealer accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise
(save as referred to above) which they might otherwise have in respect of this Base Prospectus or any such
statement. Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme are
intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation
by any of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any person supplied
with other information provided in connection with the Programme should purchase Mortgage Pandbrieven. Each
potential purchaser of Mortgage Pandbrieven should determine for itself the relevance of the information
contained in this Base Prospectus and its purchase of Mortgage Pandbrieven should be based upon such
investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes to review the financial
condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Base Prospectus or to
advise any investor or potential investor in the Mortgage Pandbrieven of any information coming to the attention
of any of the Dealers or the Arranger. Investors should review, amongst other things, the most recent financial
statements, if any, of the Issuer when deciding whether or not to purchase any Mortgage Pandbrieven. The
Arranger and the Dealers do not owe any fiduciary duties to any person in connection with this Base Prospectus.
The Arranger or the Dealers have not prepared any financial statements or reports referred to in this Base
Prospectus and have not separately conducted any due diligence.



No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those
contained in this Base Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Mortgage Pandbrieven and, if given
or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or
any of the Dealers or the Arranger. Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor any sale made in connection
herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the
Issuer since the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or
supplemented, or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer since the date hereof
or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented, or that any other
information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which
it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The minimum specified denomination of any Mortgage Pandbrieven shall be EUR 100,000 and integral multiples
thereof.

This Base Prospectus contains or incorporates by reference certain statements that constitute forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements may include, without limitation, statements relating to the Issuer’s
business strategies, trends in its business, competition and competitive advantage, regulatory changes, and
restructuring plans.

Words such as believes, expects, projects, anticipates, seeks, estimates, intends, plans or similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements.
The Issuer does not intend to update these forward-looking statements except as may be required by applicable
securities laws.

By their very nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties, both general and
specific, and risks exist that predictions, forecasts, projections and other outcomes described or implied in
forward-looking statements will not be achieved. A number of important factors could cause actual results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and intentions
expressed in such forward-looking statements. These factors include: (i) the ability to maintain sufficient liquidity
and access to capital markets; (ii) market and interest rate fluctuations; (iii) the strength of global economy in
general and the strength of the economies of the countries in which the Issuer conducts operations; (iv) the
potential impact of sovereign risk, particularly in certain European Union countries which have recently come
under market pressure; (v) adverse rating actions by credit rating agencies; (vi) the ability of counterparties to
meet their obligations to the Issuer; (vii) the effects of, and changes in, fiscal, monetary, trade and tax policies,
and currency fluctuations; (viii) the possibility of the imposition of foreign exchange controls by government and
monetary authorities; (ix) operational factors, such as systems failure, human error, or the failure to implement
procedures properly; (x) actions taken by regulators with respect to the Issuer’s business and practices in one or
more of the countries in which the Issuer conducts operations; (xi) the adverse resolution of litigation and other
contingencies; and (xii) the Issuer’s success at managing the risks involved in the foregoing.

The foregoing list of important factors is not exclusive; when evaluating forward-looking statements, investors
should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and events, as well as the other risks
identified in this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus contains various amounts and percentages which have been rounded and, as a result, when
those amounts and percentages are added up, they may not total.

Any information in this Base Prospectus sourced from a third party has been accurately reproduced and as far as
the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts have been
omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.



IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND OFFER
OF THE MORTGAGE PANDBRIEVEN GENERALLY

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of the Mortgage Pandbrieven may be restricted by
law in certain jurisdictions. Neither the Issuer nor the Dealers or the Arranger represent that this Base Prospectus
may be lawfully distributed, or that the Mortgage Pandbrieven may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any
applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available
thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action
has been taken by the Issuer, the Dealers or the Arranger which is intended to permit an offer to the public of the
Mortgage Pandbrieven or distribution of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is
required. Accordingly, the Mortgage Pandbrieven may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither
this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any
jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.

Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or the Mortgage Pandbrieven may come are required by the
Issuer, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the
distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. For a description of
certain restrictions on offers and sales of Mortgage Pandbrieven and on distribution of this Base Prospectus, see
“SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE”.

The Arranger, the Noteholder’s Representative and the Dealers have not separately verified (i) the information
contained or incorporated in this Base Prospectus or (ii) any statement, representation, or warranty, or compliance
with any covenant, of the Issuer contained in any Mortgage Pandbrieven or any other agreement or document
relating to any Mortgage Pandbrieven or made in connection with the Programme, as may be prepared, or
approved in writing, by the Issuer for use in connection with the Programme. Accordingly, none of the Arranger,
the Noteholders’ Representative or the Dealers makes any representation, warranty or undertaking, express or
implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to (a) the accuracy or completeness of any of the information
contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or (b) the execution, legality, effectiveness,
adequacy, genuineness, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence of any Mortgage Pandbrieven or any
other agreement or document relating to any Mortgage Pandbrieven or the Programme. The Arranger and the
Dealers are acting solely pursuant to a contractual relationship with the Issuer on an arm's length basis with respect
to the issue, offer and sale of the Mortgage Pandbrieven (including in connection with determining the terms of
the issue, offer and sale of the Mortgage Pandbrieven) and not as a financial adviser or a fiduciary to the Issuer or
any other person.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or the securitiecs laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United
States. The Mortgage Pandbrieven may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) except pursuant an
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and the
applicable securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States.

THE MORTGAGE PANDBRIEVEN HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE UNITED
STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE SEC) ANY STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION OR ANY OTHER U.S. OR STATE REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAVE ANY OF
THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED THIS BASE PROSPECTUS OR
CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS. ANY
REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds

None of the Arranger nor the Dealers accepts any responsibility for any social, environmental or sustainability
assessment of any Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds or makes any representation or warranty or
assurance whether such Mortgage Pandbrieven will meet any investor expectations or requirements regarding
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such "green", "sustainability" or similar labels. None of the Arranger nor the Dealers are responsible for the use
of proceeds for any Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds, nor the impact or monitoring of such use of
proceeds.

No representation or assurance is given by the Arranger or the Dealers as to the suitability or reliability of any
opinion or certification of any third party made available in connection with an issue of Mortgage Pandbrieven
issued as Green Bonds, nor is any such opinion or certification a recommendation by the Issuer, the Arranger or
any Dealer or any other person to buy, sell or hold any such Mortgage Pandbrieven.

In the event any such Mortgage Pandbrieven are, or are intended to be, listed, or admitted to trading on a
dedicated "green", "sustainability" or other equivalently-labelled segment of a stock exchange or securities
market, no representation or assurance is given by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or any other person
that such listing or admission will be obtained or maintained for the lifetime of the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Any information on, or accessible through, the Issuer’s website relating to the Issuer’'s Green Bond
Framework and the information in the Green Bond Framework and any second party opinion is not part
of this Base Prospectus and should not be relied upon in connection with making any investment decision
with respect to the Mortgage Pandbrieven. In addition, no assurance or representation is given by the
Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers or any other person as to the suitability or reliability for any purpose
whatsoever of any opinion, report or certification of any third party in connection with the offering of the
Mortgage Pandbrieven. Any such opinion, report or certification and any other document related thereto
is not, nor shall it be deemed to be, incorporated in and/or form part of this Base Prospectus. Any such
opinion is only current as of the date that opinion was initially issued. Prospective investors must determine
for themselves the relevance of any such opinion and/or the information contained therein and/or the
provider of such opinion for the purpose of any investment in the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in
the Mortgage Pandbrieven must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should consider, either on its own or with the help of
its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:

(1) has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Mortgage Pandbrieven,
the merits and risks of investing in the Mortgage Pandbrieven and the information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(i1) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the Mortgage Pandbrieven and the impact the Mortgage Pandbrieven
will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(1ii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Mortgage
Pandbrieven, including Mortgage Pandbrieven where the currency for principal and/or interest payments
is different from the potential investor’s currency;

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Mortgage Pandbrieven and is familiar with the behaviour of any
relevant financial markets; and

v) is able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic,
interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors
are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential
investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Mortgage Pandbrieven are
legal investments for it, (ii) Mortgage Pandbrieven can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and
(iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Mortgage Pandbrieven. Financial institutions should



consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Mortgage
Pandbrieven under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the issue of Mortgage
Pandbrieven constitutes an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Dealers or the Arranger to
subscribe for, or purchase, any Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven may only be held by, and may only be transferred to, eligible investors referred to in
Article 4 of the Belgian Royal Decree of 26 May 1994 on the deduction of withholding tax (“Eligible Investors™)
holding their Mortgage Pandbrieven in an exempt account that has been opened with a financial institution that is
a direct or indirect participant in the Securities Settlement System operated by the NBB.

Prohibition of sales to EEA retail investors — The Mortgage Pandbrieven are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in
the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined
in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (as
amended, the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional
client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document required
by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the “PRIIPs Regulation™) for offering or selling the Mortgage
Pandbrieven or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore
offering or selling the Mortgage Pandbrieven or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA
may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.

Prohibition of sales to UK retail investors - The Mortgage Pandbrieven are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in
the UK. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined
in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European
Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (“EUWA™); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (“FSMA”) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement
Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of
Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.
Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of
domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Mortgage
Pandbrieven or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore
offering or selling the Mortgage Pandbrieven or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK
may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

Prohibition of sales to consumers in Belgium — The Mortgage Pandbrieven are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available, and will not be offered, sold or otherwise made available, in Belgium to “consumers”
(consommateurs/consumenten) within the meaning of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (Code de droit
économique/Wetboek van economisch recht), as amended.

MIFID II product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Mortgage Pandbrieven will
include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product Governance” which will outline the target market assessment in
respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven and which channels for distribution of the Mortgage Pandbrieven are
appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Mortgage Pandbrieven (a
“distributor”) should take into consideration the target market assessment. A distributor subject to MiFID II is,
however, responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven
(by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product
Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance Rules”), any
Dealer subscribing for any Mortgage Pandbrieven is a manufacturer in respect of such Mortgage Pandbrieven, but



otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the
purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MiFIR product governance / target market — The Final Terms in respect of any Mortgage Pandbrieven
will include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product Governance” which will outline the target market assessment
in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven and which channels for distribution of the Mortgage Pandbrieven are
appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Mortgage Pandbrieven (a
“distributor”) should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the
FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product
Governance Rules”) is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution
channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product
Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Mortgage Pandbrieven is a manufacturer in respect of such
Mortgage Pandbrieven, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates
will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules.

Benchmark Regulation — Interest and/or other amounts payable under the Mortgage Pandbrieven may be
calculated by reference to certain reference rates. Any such reference rate may constitute a benchmark for the
purposes of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the “Benchmark Regulation™). If any such reference rate does
constitute such a benchmark, the relevant Final Terms will indicate whether or not the benchmark is provided by
an administrator included in the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the
European Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”) pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation. Not
every reference rate will fall within the scope of the Benchmark Regulation. Transitional provisions in the
Benchmark Regulation may have the result that the administrator of a particular benchmark is not required to
appear in the register of administrators and benchmarks at the date of the relevant Final Terms (or, if located
outside the European Union, recognition, endorsement or equivalence). The registration status of any
administrator under the Benchmark Regulation is a matter of public record and, save where required by applicable
law, the Issuer does not intend to update the relevant Final Terms to reflect any change in the registration status
of the administrator.

Amounts payable under the Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven will be calculated by reference to EURIBOR.
As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the European Money Markets Institute (“EMMI”) (as administrator of
EURIBOR) is included in the ESMA’s register of administrators under Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of any Tranche (as defined in the section “GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE
PROGRAMME”) of Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilisation manager(s)
(the “Stabilisation Manager(s)”) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the relevant
Final Terms may over-allot Mortgage Pandbrieven or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market
price of Mortgage Pandbrieven at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation
may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public
disclosure of the final terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but
it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the
date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the
relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Managers) in accordance with
all applicable laws and rules.

ENGLISH CONCEPTS

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are issued in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations as further
described in this Base Prospectus. The official text of the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations is in Dutch and in



French and any discrepancies or differences created in the translation of legal concepts in this Base Prospectus
are not binding and have no legal effect. If any questions arise on the accuracy of the information in relation to
the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations contained in this Base Prospectus, please refer to the official Dutch and
French version of the relevant legislative text, which shall prevail.

CURRENCIES

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “euro”, “EUR”
and “€” are to the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the
single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Union, as amended.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

This overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 25(1) of Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) No 2019/980 (the “Delegated Regulation”).

The Issuer may from time to time issue Mortgage Pandbrieven under the Programme which are subject to terms
and conditions and/or final terms not contemplated by this Base Prospectus. In such circumstances, the relevant
(form of) terms and conditions (and, if applicable, final terms) will be set out in a schedule to the Programme
Agreement (as the same may be amended, supplemented, replaced and/or restated from time to time).

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by the

remainder of, this Base Prospectus (including any documents incorporated by reference) and, in relation to the
terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Mortgage Pandbrieven, the relevant Final Terms. Words and
expressions defined or used in “Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven” shall have the same

meaning in this overview.

Information relating to the Issuer

Issuer

Issuer’s legal entity identifier (“LEI”)

Information relating to the Issuer

Website of the Issuer

Parent

Issuer License

Argenta Spaarbank NV (“Argenta Spaarbank”, “ASPA” and the
“Issuer”).

A6NZLYKYN1UV7VVGFX65

The Issuer is a credit institution incorporated as a limited liability
company (naamloze vennootschap/société anonyme) of unlimited
duration incorporated under Belgian law, having its registered
office at Belgiélei 49-53, 2018 Antwerp, Belgium, and registered
with the Crossroads Bank for Enterprises under number
0404.453.574, RPR/RPM Antwerp, division Antwerp.

www.argenta.eu

The information on www.argenta.eu does not form part of this
Base Prospectus, except where that information has otherwise
expressly been incorporated by reference into this Base
Prospectus.

Argenta Bank- en Verzekeringsgroep NV, a mixed financial
holding company pursuant to Article 3, 39° of the Belgian
Banking Law, incorporated as a limited liability company under
the laws of Belgium, having its registered office at Belgiélei 49-
53, 2018 Antwerp, Belgium, and registered with the Crossroads
Bank for Enterprises under number 0475.525.276, RPR/RPM
Antwerp, division Antwerp.

The “Supervisory Authority” (i.e. the National Bank of Belgium
or the European Central Bank, as applicable, and any other
supervisory authority to which relevant powers may be
transferred) admitted the Issuer to the list of credit institutions that
are authorised to issue Belgian covered bonds on 21 September
2020.
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Information relating to the Programme

Description

Programme license

Information relating to the Programme
Size

Belgian Mortgage Pandbrieven

The Belgian Mortgage Pandbrieven Programme (the
“Programme”) is a programme for the continuous offer of
Belgian pandbrieven (Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage
belges) / European covered bonds (premium) (Europese gedekte
obligatie (premium)/obligation garantie européenne (de qualité
supérieure)) (the “Mortgage Pandbrieven”) in accordance with
the Law of 25 April 2014 on the status and supervision of credit
institutions and stockbroking firms (the “Belgian Banking Law”)
and its executing royal decrees and regulations (the “Belgian
Covered Bonds Regulations™) on any issue date (each, an “Issue
Date”).

On 19 January 2021, the National Bank of Belgium (the “NBB”)
admitted the Programme to the list of authorised programmes for
the issuance of covered bonds under the category Belgian
pandbrieven (Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage belges) /
European covered bonds (premium) (Europese gedekte obligatie
(premium)/obligation ~ garantie — européenne (de  qualité
supérieure)). Upon so being notified by the Issuer, the NBB shall
regularly update such list with the Mortgage Pandbrieven issued
under the Programme and shall indicate that the Mortgage
Pandbrieven constitute Belgian pandbrieven / European covered
bonds (premium) under the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations.

EUR 7,500,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the
date of issue) aggregate principal amount of Mortgage
Pandbrieven outstanding at any one time. The Issuer may increase
the amount of the Programme in accordance with the terms of the
Programme Agreement.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued as Belgian pandbrieven
(Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage belges) / European
covered bonds (premium) (Europese gedekte obligatie
(premium)/obligation  garantie  européenne  (de  qualité
supérieure)), in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds
Regulations.

All Mortgage Pandbrieven to be issued under the Programme will
be covered by the same special estate (bijzonder
vermogen/patrimoine spécial) (the “Special Estate”). The
primary asset class of the Special Estate will consist of the Issuer’s
residential mortgage loans within the meaning of the Belgian
Covered Bonds Regulations (the “Residential Mortgage Loans”,
and together with any other assets registered as cover assets
(dekkingsactiva/actifs de couverture), the “Cover Assets”). The
Issuer shall procure that the value of the Residential Mortgage
Loans calculated in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds
Regulations (and including any collections in respect thereto) will
at all times represent at least 105 per cent. of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the Mortgage Pandbrieven of all
Series. The Issuer will maintain a cover register in which both the
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Status and ranking
Pandbrieven

Issuer Covenant

of Mortgage

issued Mortgage Pandbrieven and the Cover Assets are registered
(the “Cover Register”).

See Section “Overview of the Legal Framework for Belgian
Covered Bonds and Belgian Pandbrieven” and Condition 9
(Issuer Covenant) for further information on the composition of
the Special Estate.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven will be direct, unconditional,
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank
at all times pari passu, without any preference among themselves,
and with all other outstanding unsecured and unsubordinated
obligations of the Issuer, present and future. Pursuant to the
Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations, the Noteholders, together
with the holders of any other Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under
the Programme and any Other Creditors (as defined below) will
have:

(a) a direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured
(chirografair/chirographaire) claim on the general
estate of the Issuer;

(b) in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against
the Issuer or the Issuer is being resolved, an exclusive
recourse against the assets which constitute the Special
Estate; and

(c) in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against
the Issuer and the Special Estate is not sufficient to cover
for their claims, an unsecured, unsubordinated recourse
against the general estate of the Issuer.

The Issuer will covenant in favour of the Noteholders and the
Noteholders’ Representative to:

(a) comply with all obligations imposed on it under the
Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations;

(b) ensure that the Special Estate will mainly consist of
Residential Mortgage Loans;

(c) ensure that the Special Estate will not contain any
commercial mortgage loans;

(d) ensure that the cover asset value of the Residential
Mortgage Loans that are registered as Cover Assets in the
Cover Register (and including any collections in respect
thereto) (a) are calculated in accordance with the Belgian
Covered Bonds Regulations and (b) will at all times
represent at least 105 per cent. of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven of all Series (it being understood that any
surplus above 105 per cent. may be composed of other
eligible assets under the Programme);
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Negative Pledge

Cross-Default

Cross-Acceleration

(e)

¢

(@

(h)

None

ensure that only Residential Mortgage Loans with a
current loan to current value ratio of maximum 120 per
cent. will be added to the Special Estate;

ensure that only fully drawn Residential Mortgage Loans
will be added to the Special Estate;

ensure that the Special Estate will at all times include
liquid Cover Assets meeting the criteria set out in the
Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations and which (a) are
eligible as collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy
purposes and intra-day credit operations by the
Eurosystem, (b) have a credit quality step 1 as defined in
the Capital Requirements Regulation (as defined in
Condition 7(a)(i)), (c) are subject to a daily mark-to-
market and have a market value which, after applying the
European Central Bank (“ECB”) haircut in accordance
with the Guideline (EU) 2015/510 of the ECB of 19
December 2014 on the implementation of the Eurosystem
monetary policy (as amended, supplemented, replaced
and/or restated from time to time), is higher than the
amount of interest due and payable on the outstanding
Mortgage Pandbrieven within a period of six months, (d)
have a remaining maturity of more than one year, and (e)
are not debt issued by the Issuer, the Parent or any other
entity of the Argenta Group; and

provide regular investor reports with regard to, amongst
others, the composition of the Special Estate which will
be made available on the website of the Issuer at
www.argenta.eu on a monthly basis.

None (other than cross-acceleration between Series of Mortgage
Pandbrieven)

Upon service of an acceleration notice under any of the Series of
Mortgage Pandbrieven, all Mortgage Pandbrieven will become
immediately due and payable on the relevant acceleration date,
together with any accrued interest, and they will rank pari passu
among themselves.

INFORMATION ON PARTIES INVOLVED UNDER THE PROGRAMME

Arranger

Dealers

Belfius Bank SA/NV

Belfius Bank SA/NV
Barclays Bank Ireland PLC
Landesbank Baden-Wiirttemberg

Natixis
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Paying Agent

Servicer

Noteholders’ Representative

Cover Pool Monitor

Cover Pool Administrator

The Issuer may from time to time terminate the appointment of any
Dealer under the Programme or appoint additional Dealers either
in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole
Programme.

Belfius Bank SA/NV

in relation to the Residential Mortgage Loans, Argenta Spaarbank
NV, or such other servicer as may be appointed from time to time.

Stichting Argenta Mortgage Pandbrieven
Noteholders’Representative, a foundation (stichting) incorporated
under Dutch law on 19 January 2021. It has its registered office at
Amsterdam. Its managing director is Amsterdamsch Trustee’s
Kantoor B.V.

EY Bedrijfsrevisoren BV and its representative (as approved by
the NBB in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds
Regulations). The Cover Pool Monitor will perform its duties in
accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations and the
contractual arrangements that will be agreed upon between the
Cover Pool Monitor and the Issuer.

The Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations provide that, in certain
circumstances of distress, the NBB may replace the management
of the Special Estate by entrusting it to a cover pool administrator.
Such circumstances are any of the following:

(a) upon the adoption of a measure or sanction as referred to
in Article 8, § 1, 1° of Annex III to the Belgian Banking
Law in respect of the Issuer if such measure or sanction
or the reason(s) why it is imposed may, in the opinion of
the NBB, negatively affect (aantasten/affecter) the rights
of the Noteholders and/or third parties having a claim on
the Special Estate;

(b) in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against
the Issuer or the Issuer is being resolved;

(©) upon the withdrawal of any of the authorisations referred
to in Articles 80, §1 and 81, §1 of the Belgian Banking
Law; and

(d) in circumstances where the situation of the Issuer is such

that it may seriously affect (ernstig in gevaar kan
brengen/mettre gravement en péril) the interests of the
Noteholders.

The parties listed above (other than any Cover Pool Administrator) are appointed to act in respect of the
Programme pursuant to the Programme Documents as further described under the Section “Programme
Description” of this Base Prospectus (the “Programme Documents”). The relevant Programme Documents
provide that other parties may be appointed from time to time and contain certain provisions in relation to the

replacement of the above-mentioned parties.
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Information relating to Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under this Base Prospectus

Method of Issue

Issue Price

Form of Mortgage Pandbrieven

Clearing Systems

1

The official list of participants as amended, supplemented and/or replaced from time to time can be consulted on the website of

Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued on a syndicated or non-
syndicated basis. The Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued in
series (each a “Series”) having one or more issue dates and on
terms otherwise identical in all respects (including as to listing and
admission to trading) (or identical other than in respect of the issue
price and/or the first payment of interest), the Mortgage
Pandbrieven of each Series being intended to be interchangeable
with all other Mortgage Pandbrieven of that Series. Each Series
may be issued in tranches (each, a “Tranche”) on the same or
different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which
will be completed, where necessary, with the relevant terms and
conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first
payment of interest, principal amount of the Tranche and/or the
Temporary ISIN Code and Temporary Common Code (if any and
as defined in the relevant Final Terms), will be identical to the
terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in the
Final Terms.

Mortgage Pandbrieven may be issued at their principal amount or
at a discount or premium to their principal amount, as specified in
the relevant Final Terms.

Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued in dematerialised form in
accordance with the Belgian Companies and Associations Code
(Wetboek van Vennootschappen en Verenigingen/Code des
Sociétés et des Associations) via the book-entry system maintained
in the records of the Securities Settlement System (defined below).

The settlement system operated by the NBB or any successor
thereto (the “Securities Settlement System”).

Access to the Securities Settlement System is available through
those of the participants in the Securities Settlement System whose
membership extends to securities such as the Mortgage
Pandbrieven and through other national or international NBB
investors central securities depositories (NBB investor (I)CSDs)".
Participants in the Securities Settlement System include certain
banks, stockbrokers (beursvennootschappen/sociétés de bourse),
Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear Bank”), Clearstream
Banking Frankfurt (“Clearstream”), SIX SIS AG (“SIX SIS”)
and Euronext Securities Milan S.p.A. (“Euronext Securities
Milan”). Accordingly, the Mortgage Pandbrieven will be eligible
to clear through, and therefore accepted by, Euroclear Bank,
Clearstream, SIX SIS, and Euronext Securities Milan and
investors can hold their interests in the Mortgage Pandbrieven
within securities accounts in Euroclear Bank, Clearstream, SIX
SIS, Euronext Securities Milan and any other NBB investor
(DCSDs, or other participants in the Securities Settlement System.

the NBB: https://www.nbb.be/en/list-nbb-investor-icsds. The information contained on the website of the National Bank of

Belgium (www.nbb.be) does not form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the CSSF.

16


https://www.nbb.be/en/list-nbb-investor-icsds
http://www.nbb.be/

Initial  Delivery of  Mortgage
Pandbrieven

Currencies

Maturities

Denomination

Fixed Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven

Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven

Maximum or Minimum Rates of
Interest

Mortgage Pandbrieven will be credited to the accounts held with
the Securities Settlement System by Euroclear Bank, Clearstream,
SIX SIS, Euronext Securities Milan, any other NBB investor
(DCSDs or any other Securities Settlement System participants.

Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued in Euro.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, each Mortgage Pandbrief will have the maturity as
specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued in such denominations as
may be specified in the relevant Final Terms save that the
minimum denomination of each Mortgage Pandbrief will be such
amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the
relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or
regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency and save
that the minimum denomination of each Mortgage Pandbrief will
be EUR 100,000 and integral multiples thereof.

Fixed Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven will bear interest at a fixed rate
payable in arrears on the date or dates in each year specified in the
relevant Final Terms.

If an indication of yield is included in the relevant Final Terms, the
yield of each Tranche of Fixed Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven will be
calculated on the basis of the relevant issue price at the relevant
issue date. It is not an indication of future yield.

Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven will bear interest set
separately for each Series as follows:

)] on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional
interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified
Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the
ISDA Definitions (as defined below), as published by the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.; or

(i1) by reference to EURIBOR (or such other benchmark as
may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) as adjusted
for any applicable margin as specified in the relevant
Final Terms.

Interest Periods will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven may specify a Maximum
Rate of Interest or a Minimum Rate of Interest, or both, as being
applicable in the relevant Final Terms. If a Maximum Rate of
Interest is specified, then the interest payable will in no case be
higher than such rate and if a Minimum Rate of Interest is
specified, then the interest payable will in no case be lower than
such rate.

17



Zero Coupon Mortgage Pandbrieven

Redemption

Optional Redemption

Extended Maturity Date

Zero Coupon Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued at a price
which is at a discount or premium to their principal amount, and
will not bear interest (except in the case of late payment or in case
of extension of their Maturity Date, as set out in the Conditions).

Mortgage Pandbrieven will be redeemed either (i) at 100% per
Calculation Amount, or (ii) at an amount per Calculation Amount
specified in the relevant Final Terms, provided that the amount so
specified shall be at least 100% per Calculation Amount.

The relevant Final Terms will indicate the scheduled maturity date
of the Mortgage Pandbrieven (the “Maturity Date”). The relevant
Mortgage Pandbrieven cannot be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity, other than in certain specified events such as Redemption
for Taxation Reasons and/or Redemption for Illegality.

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Mortgage
Pandbrieven will state whether such Mortgage Pandbrieven may
be redeemed (either in whole or in part) prior to their stated
maturity at the option of the Noteholders (“Noteholder Put) or
at the option of the Issuer (“Issuer Call”), and if so, the terms
applicable to such redemption shall be as set out in the Terms and
Conditions of such Mortgage Pandbrieven, in accordance with the
elections made in the relevant Final Terms.

(i) If (i) the Issuer has insufficient funds available to redeem the
Mortgage Pandbrieven of a Series at their Final Redemption
Amount in full within five Business Days after their Maturity
Date (“Failure to Pay”), or (ii) the Cover Pool Administrator
decides to extend the Maturity Date of the relevant Series of
Mortgage Pandbrieven in the event liquidation proceedings
are initiated against the Issuer or the Issuer is being resolved,
then:

A. save to the extent Condition 3(j)(i)(D) applies, the
obligation of the Issuer to redeem such Series shall be
automatically deferred to, and shall be due on the date
falling one year after such Maturity Date which shall be
specified in the relevant Final Terms (the “Extended
Maturity Date”);

B. the Issuer, or as the case may be the Cover Pool
Administrator on its behalf, shall give notice of the
extension of the Maturity Date to the Extended Maturity
Date to the Noteholders of such Series, the Noteholders’
Representative, the Rating Agencies and the Paying
Agent as soon as reasonably practicable, it being
understood that a failure to notify shall not affect such
extension of the Maturity Date;

C. the Issuer shall inform the NBB of the reasons for the
extension of the Maturity Date within 15 Business Days
of such extension, submit an action plan to the NBB
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setting out the measures the Issuer intends to take to
ensure that all amounts owed shall be repaid on the
Extended Maturity Date. If the extension of the Maturity
Date is caused by a Failure to Pay, the Issuer shall
demonstrate to the NBB that it has taken all reasonable
efforts to prevent the extension of the Maturity Date from
occurring;

D. Subject to Condition 3(j)(iii), if and to the extent that on
any subsequent Interest Payment Date (as defined in the
relevant Final Terms) falling prior to the Extended
Maturity Date (each an “Extension Payment Date”), the
Issuer has available funds, then the Issuer shall (a) give
notice thereof to the Noteholders of such Series, the
Noteholders’ Representative and the Paying Agent as
soon as reasonably practicable and in any event at least
two Business Days prior to such Extension Payment Date
and (b) apply such available funds to redeem the
Mortgage Pandbrieven of such Series on such Extension
Payment Date at their Final Redemption Amount; and

E. save as otherwise provided for in the relevant Final
Terms, interest shall (a) accrue on the unpaid portion of
such Final Redemption Amount from (and including) the
Maturity Date to (but excluding) the Extension Payment
Date, the Extended Maturity Date or, as the case may be,
the date the Mortgage Pandbrieven of such Series are
fully redeemed in accordance with Condition 3(j)(iii) (b)
be payable in arrears on each Extension Payment Date (in
respect of the Interest Period then ended) or, if earlier, on
the Extended Maturity Date or the date of any redemption
pursuant to Condition 3(j)(iii) and (c) accrue at the rate
provided for in the relevant Final Terms.

(i) An extension of one Series does not automatically trigger the
extension of other Series. If the maturity date of any Series
of Mortgage Pandbrieven has been extended in accordance
with the relevant terms and conditions (the “Extended
Mortgage Pandbrieven”), and the Maturity Date of another
Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven (the “Relevant Mortgage
Pandbrieven”) falls prior to the extended maturity date of
the Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Maturity Date of
such Relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven shall also be extended
in accordance with Condition 3(j)(i) if on the Maturity Date
of the Relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Extended
Mortgage Pandbrieven have not yet been redeemed in full
and all interest accrued in respect thereof has not been paid.
Without prejudice to Condition 17 (Post-Acceleration
Priority of Payments), the Issuer will only make a payment
of principal pursuant to Condition 3(a) (Final Redemption)
or pursuant to Condition 3(j) (Extension of Maturity up to
Extended Maturity Date) where the Extended Maturity Date
of the Relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven falls after the
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(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

extended maturity date of the Extended Mortgage
Pandbrieven, after or simultaneously with the redemption in
full of the Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven and payment of
all interest accrued in respect thereof. ‘Extended Mortgage
Pandbrieven’ as referred to in Condition 3(j)(ii) shall include
any other Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven extended on the
basis of provisions similar to Condition 3(j)(ii) included in
the relevant terms and conditions of such other Series of
Mortgage Pandbrieven in accordance with Article 13/1, §2
in fine of Annex III to the Banking Law.

Notwithstanding Condition 3(j)(i)(D), if a Series of
Mortgage Pandbrieven is extended in accordance with
Condition 3(j)(i) and any subsequent Extension Payment
Date of such Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven falls after the
maturity date of any other Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven,
payment may be made on another date than an Extension
Payment Date, provided that notice thereof is given to the
Noteholders of such Series, the Noteholders’ Representative
and the Paying Agent as soon as reasonably practicable and
in any event at least two Business Days prior to the relevant
payment date.

In the case the Mortgage Pandbrieven to which an Extended
Maturity Date applies are Zero Coupon Mortgage
Pandbrieven, the outstanding principal amount will for the
purposes of Condition 3(j) (Extension of Maturity up to
Extended Maturity Date) be the total amount otherwise
payable by the Issuer but unpaid on the relevant Mortgage
Pandbrieven on the Maturity Date.

Any extension of the maturity of Mortgage Pandbrieven
under Condition 3(j) (Extension of Maturity up to Extended
Maturity Date) shall be irrevocable. Where Condition 3(j)
(Extension of Maturity up to Extended Maturity Date)
applies, failure by the Issuer to redeem in full the relevant
Mortgage Pandbrieven on the Maturity Date or on any
subsequent Extension Payment Date (or the relevant later
date in case of an applicable grace period) shall not constitute
a Payment Default (as defined below). However, failure by
the Issuer to redeem in full the relevant Mortgage
Pandbrieven on the Extended Maturity Date or in accordance
with Condition 3(j)(iii) shall be a failure to pay which may
constitute a Payment Default.

Any payments which may be subject to an extension in
accordance with Condition 3(j) (Extension of Maturity up to
Extended Maturity Date) shall not be deemed to constitute
an outgoing payment flow (uitgaande betalingsstroom/flux
de paiement sortant) for the purpose of Article 7, §1 of the
Royal Decree of 11 October 2012 on the issuance of Belgian
covered bonds by Belgian credit institutions.
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Post-Acceleration
Payments

Priority

(vii) Ifthe maturity date of any Mortgage Pandbrieven is extended
up to the Extended Maturity Date in accordance with
Condition 3(j) (Extension of Maturity up to Extended
Maturity Date), for so long as any of those Mortgage
Pandbrieven remains outstanding, the Issuer shall not issue
any further Mortgage Pandbrieven, unless the proceeds of
issuance of such further Mortgage Pandbrieven are applied
by the Issuer upon issuance in redeeming in whole or in part
the relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven in accordance with the
terms hereof.

of All monies (other than amounts standing to the credit of a swap

collateral account, if any, which will be applied in accordance with
the provisions of the relevant derivative contract) received or
recovered by the Special Estate (whether in the administration,
liquidation of the Special Estate or otherwise) following (i) the
service of an Acceleration Notice or (ii) a liquidation of the Special
Estate in accordance with Article 11, 6° or 7° of Annex III to the
Belgian Banking Law (pursuant to which, in case of the opening
of a liquiditation procedure, the Cover Pool Monitor may under
certain circumstances and subject to certain conditions proceed
with the liquidation of the Special Estate and the early redemption
of the Mortgage Pandbrieven), will be applied in the following
order of priority (the “Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments”),
in each case only if and to the extent that payments or provisions
of a higher priority have been made:

(a) first, in or towards satisfaction of all amounts due and
payable, including any costs, charges, liabilities and
expenses, to the Cover Pool Administrator (including any
of its representatives and delegates);

(b) second, in or towards satisfaction of all amounts due and
payable, including any costs, charges, liabilities and
expenses, to the Noteholders’ Representative;

(©) third, on a pari passu and pro rata basis, in or towards
satisfaction of any Expenses which are due and payable
to the Operating Creditors;

(d) fourth, on a pari passu and pro rata basis, in or towards
satisfaction of (i) any Pari Passu Swap Amounts and (ii)
any payments of amounts due and payable to Noteholders
pro rata and pari passu on each Series in accordance with
the Conditions;

(e) fifth, on a pari passu and pro rata basis, in or towards
satisfaction of any Junior Swap Amounts; and

® sixth, thereafter any remaining monies will be paid to the
general estate of the Issuer.

21



For the purposes of this provision, terms in capital letters have the
following meaning:

“Expenses” means any costs, charges, liabilities, expenses or
other amounts payable by the Issuer or by the Special Estate, as
applicable, to any Operating Creditor plus any value added tax or
any other tax or duty payable thereon.

“Derivative Contract Counterparty” means a counterparty
under a derivative contract entered into by the Issuer in relation to
the Special Estate.

“Junior Swap Amount” means any swap termination amount
whereby the Derivative Contract Counterparty is the defaulting
party or any such other amount, including any costs, charges,
liabilities and expenses, due and payable to a Derivative Contract
Counterparty (in accordance with the relevant derivative contract)
and which under the relevant derivative contract are expressed to
rank junior to interest and principal due to Noteholders and any
other party ranking senior in accordance with the Post-
Acceleration Priority of Payments.

“Operating Creditor” means any of (1) the Paying Agent, (2) the
Cover Pool Monitor, (3) the Servicer, (4) any account bank
holding assets on behalf of the Special Estate, (5) any stock
exchange on which the Mortgage Pandbrieven are listed, (6) the
Issuer's statutory auditor(s), legal counsel and tax advisers for
services provided for the benefit of the Special Estate, (7) the
Rating Agencies in relation to any Mortgage Pandbrieven issued
under the Programme, (8) any independent accountant or
independent calculation agent for services provided for the benefit
of the Special Estate, (9) any custodian in relation to the
Programme, (10) any agent or party appointed in accordance with
the Programme Documents or any other creditor of amounts due
in connection with the management and administration of the
Special Estate (11), any Independent Adviser and (12) any other
creditor which may have a claim against the Special Estate as a
result of any services provided or contracts entered into in relation
to the Mortgage Pandbrieven or the Programme, as may from time
to time be specified in the Terms and Conditions of any Mortgage
Pandbrieven issued under the Programme.

“Other Creditor” means the Noteholders’ Representative, any
Operating Creditor, any Derivative Contract Counterparty and the
Cover Pool Administrator.

“Pari Passu Swap Amount” means each amount, including any
costs, charges, liabilities and expenses, due and payable to a
Derivative Contract Counterparty and which under the relevant
derivative contract are expressed to rank pari passu with interest
or principal (as applicable) due to Noteholders.
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Payment Default

Withholding Tax

Failure by the Issuer to pay (i) any principal amount in respect of
any Mortgage Pandbrief on the Extended Maturity Date or
pursuant to Condition 3(j) (Redemption, Purchase and Options —
Extension of Maturity up to Extended Maturity Date), or (ii) any
interest in respect of any Mortgage Pandbrief within five (5)
Business Days from the day on which such interest becomes due
and payable, shall constitute a payment default (“Payment
Default”) if such failure remains unremedied for ten (10) Business
Days after the Noteholders’ Representative has given written
notice thereof to the Issuer by registered mail or per courier and
with return receipt (“Payment Notice™). In case of failure by the
Noteholders’ Representative to deliver such Payment Notice, any
Noteholder may deliver such notice to the Issuer (with a copy to
the Noteholders’ Representative). The date on which a Payment
Default occurs shall be the date on which the Noteholders’
Representative or any Noteholder has given notice of such
Payment Default plus ten (10) Business Days (the “Payment
Default Date”).

Without prejudice to the powers granted to the Cover Pool
Administrator, if a Payment Default occurs in relation to a
particular Series, the Noteholders’ Representative may, and shall
if so requested in writing by the Noteholders of at least 66> per
cent. of the principal amount outstanding of the relevant Series of
the Mortgage Pandbrieven then outstanding (excluding any
Mortgage Pandbrieven which may be held by the Issuer), serve a
notice on the Issuer (“Acceleration Notice”) by registered mail or
per courier and with return receipt that a Payment Default has
occurred in relation to such Series, provided in each case it shall
have been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its
satisfaction.

The Acceleration Notice will specify the date on which the
Mortgage Pandbrieven become immediately due and payable, (the
“Acceleration Date”), which will be at least two (2) Business
Days after the Payment Default Date.

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven will be made free and clear of withholding taxes of
Belgium unless the withholding is required by law. In such event,
the Issuer shall, subject to certain exceptions, pay such additional
amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholder of such
amounts as would have been received by it had no such
withholding been required, all as described in “Terms and
Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven — Taxation”, “Common
Reporting Standard — Exchange of information” and “Belgian
Taxation on the Mortgage Pandbrieven”.

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force, there is,
subject to certain exceptions, no withholding tax on payments of
principal, premium or interest made to resident or non-resident
Noteholders, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the
Mortgage Pandbrieven, nor is any Luxembourg withholding tax
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Governing Law

Listing and Admission to Trading and
approval by the CSSF

Ratings

payable upon redemption or repurchase of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven held by non-resident Noteholders, as further
described in “Luxembourg Taxation on the Mortgage
Pandbrieven”.

Belgian law.

Application has been made for Mortgage Pandbrieven of any
Series to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which is a regulated market for the
purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial
instruments and amending Directive 2002/92/EC and Directive
2011/61/EU (recast) (where it is specified in the relevant Final
Terms that such Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven is to be listed and
admitted to trading on such market). If specified in the relevant
Final Terms, the Mortgage Pandbrieven will be traded only on a
specific segment of the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (the “Professional Segment”) to which only qualified
investors (as defined in the Prospectus Regulation) have access.

The CSSF, in its capacity as the competent authority for the
purposes of the Prospectus Regulation, has approved this Base
Prospectus as a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus
Regulation. Such approval relates only to the Mortgage
Pandbrieven to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the regulated market
of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or, if applicable, the
Professional Segment.

Each Tranche/Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the
Programme may be rated by S&P Global Ratings, acting through
S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited ("S&P") and/or by such other
rating agency as shall be specified in the relevant Final Terms
(each a “Rating Agency”, together the “Rating Agencies”).

S&P is established in the European Union and is included in the
updated list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with
the CRA Regulation published on the ESMA’s website
(www.esma.europa.eu) on or about the date of this Base
Prospectus. S&P is not established in the UK but the ratings it will
issue with respect to the Mortgage Pandbrieven will be endorsed
by S&P Global Ratings UK Limited, which is established in the
UK and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it
forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the “UK CRA Regulation™). As such, the
ratings issued by S&P may be used for regulatory purposes in the
United Kingdom in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation.

Where a Tranche/Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven is to be rated,
such rating will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to a
relevant Tranche of Mortgage Pandbrieven will be (1) issued or
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Selling Restrictions

endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the European
Union and registered under the CRA Regulation or by a credit
rating agency which is certified under the CRA Regulation and/or
(2) issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the
UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or by a credit
rating agency which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation
will be disclosed in the Final Terms.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using
a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a
credit rating agency established in the European Union and
registered under the CRA Regulation or (1) the rating is provided
by a credit rating agency not established in the European Union
but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the
European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation or (2)
the rating is provided by a credit rating agency not established in
the European Union which is certified under the CRA Regulation.

In general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using a
rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a
credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the
UK CRA Regulation or (1) the rating is provided by a credit rating
agency not established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating
agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA
Regulation or (2) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency
not established in the UK which is certified under the UK CRA
Regulation.

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or
withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Tranches of Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Programme
may be rated or unrated.

Belgium, European Economic Area, Italy, Japan, Switzerland,
United Kingdom and United States. See “Subscription and Sale”.

The debt securities of the Issuer are eligible for Category 2 (as
specified in the relevant Final Terms) for the purposes of
Regulation S under the Securities Act.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven may not be offered, sold or otherwise
made available to EEA Retail Investors and UK Retail Investors.
See “Subscription and Sale”.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are not intended to be offered sold, or
otherwise made available to, and will not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available, in Belgium, to “consumers”
(consommateurs/ consumenten) within the meaning of the Belgian
Code of Economic Law (Code de droit économique/Wetboek van
Economisch Recht).
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The Mortgage Pandbrieven may only be held by, and may only be
transferred to, Eligible Investors referred to in Article 4 of the
Belgian Royal Decree of 26 May 1994 on the deduction of
withholding tax holding their Mortgage Pandbrieven in an exempt
account that has been opened with a financial institution that is a
direct or indirect participant in the Securities Settlement Systems
operated by the NBB.

Such Eligible Investors include, inter alia:

a) Belgian companies subject to Belgian corporate income
tax as referred to in Article 2, §1, 5°, b) of the Belgian code on
income tax of 1992 (wetboek van de inkomenstenbelastingen
1992/code des impots sur les revenus 1992, the “BITC 19927);

b) institutions, associations or companies specified in
Article 2, §3 of the law of 9 July 1975 on the control of insurance
companies other than those referred to in (i) and (iii) subject to the
application of Article 262, 1° and 5° of the BITC1992;

c) state regulated institutions (parastatalen/institutions
parastatales) for social security, or institutions which are
assimilated therewith, provided for in Article 105, 2° of the royal
decree implementing the BITC 1992 (koninklijk besluit tot
invoering van het wetboek inkomstenbelastingen 1992/arrété royal
d’exécution du code des impéts sur les revenus 1992, the
“RD/BITC 19927);

d) non-resident investors provided for in Article 105, 5° of
the RD/BITC 1992;

e) investment funds, recognised in the framework of
pension savings, provided for in Article 115 of the RD/BITC 1992;

f) taxpayers provided for in Article 227, 2° of the BITC
1992 which have used the income generating capital for the
exercise of their professional activities in Belgium and which are
subject to non-resident income tax pursuant to Article 233 of the
BITC 1992;

g) the Belgian State in respect of investments which are
exempt from withholding tax in accordance with Article 265 of the
BITC 1992;

h) collective investment funds governed by foreign law
which are an indivisible estate managed by a management
company for the account of the participants, provided the fund
units are not offered publicly in Belgium or traded in Belgium; and

1) Belgian resident corporations, not provided for under (i)

above, when their activities exclusively or principally consist of
the granting of credits and loans.
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Use of Proceeds

The net proceeds from each issue of Mortgage Pandbrieven will
be applied by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes. If, in
respect of an issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds,
this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms.

In particular, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the
Issuer may indicate that an amount equivalent to the net proceeds
from an issue of such Mortgage Pandbrieven shall be specifically
applied to finance and/or refinance, in whole or in part, new or
existing green loans (the “Eligible Green Loan Portfolio”) as
defined in, and subject to the conditions set out in, the Issuer’s
Green Bond Framework.

The Issuer’s Green Bond Framework is publicly available on the
Issuer’s website (https://www.argenta.eu/investor-relations/debt-
issuance.html). The Green Bond Framework is not incorporated
by reference into this Base Prospectus.

Investors should have regard to the factors described under the
section headed “Risk related to the Mortgage Pandbrieven” in the
Base Prospectus, in particular the risk factor entitled “Specific
risks relating to Green Bonds”.
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RISK FACTORS

Prior to making an investment decision, prospective purchasers of the Mortgage Pandbrieven should consider
carefully, in light of the circumstances and their investment objectives, the information contained in this entire
Base Prospectus (including the documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to
making any investment decision and consult with their own professional advisors (if they consider it necessary).

This section sets out the risks which the Issuer believes are specific to it and/or to the Mortgage Pandbrieven and
which are deemed to be material to investors for taking an informed decision in respect of Mortgage Pandbrieven
issued under the Programme. The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its
obligations under the Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under this offering. All of these factors are contingencies
which may or may not occur.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Mortgage
Pandbrieven are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the
Mortgage Pandbrieven, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in
connection with any Mortgage Pandbrieven may occur for other reasons which may not be considered significant
risks by the Issuer based on the information currently available to it or which it may not currently be able to
anticipate. There is a wide range of factors which individually or together could result in the Issuer becoming
unable to make all payments due in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. The Issuer may not be aware of all
relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be material may become material as a result
of the occurrence of events outside the Issuer's control.

Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus
(including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any
investment decision and consult with their own professional advisers (if they consider it necessary).

“Argenta Group” means Argenta Bank- en Verzekeringsgroep NV and its subsidiaries from time to time
(including the Issuer).

“Bank Pool” means the Issuer and its subsidiaries from time to time.

Capitalised terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall bear the meanings ascribed to them in “Terms and
Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven” below.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER’S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER
OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE MORTGAGE PANDBRIEVEN

1. Risks related to the Issuer’s financial situation
1.1 The earnings and the capital position of the Issuer are subject to fluctuations caused by market risks
The Issuer is exposed to different types of market risks, such as interest rate risk and spread risk.

Interest rate risk is the primary market risk to which the Issuer is exposed. Changes in the levels of
interest rates can have an adverse effect on the earnings of the Issuer and the market values of its
investments. A major component of the Issuer’s business strategy consists of attracting short to medium-
term funds (primarily via savings deposits placed by retail customers, but also via wholesale funding),
and investing these through a variety of loans and investments. The terms of these reinvestments do not
necessarily match with the duration of the short to medium-term funds that were attracted. The impact
on earnings and market values of interest rate changes depends on the size of the duration mismatch
between assets and liabilities, and the existence of embedded options on the balance sheet.
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1.2

The Issuer has a strong concentration of regulated saving accounts in Belgium. Under Belgian law, the
Issuer is required to pay a minimum guaranteed interest rate on regulated saving accounts. As a result,
the Issuer may not be able to fully translate a decrease in market interest rates in the pricing of its saving
accounts, which may negatively affect its net interest rate margin.

The Issuer provides mortgage loans to Belgian retail clients who are allowed to prepay, under Belgian
law, the outstanding capital at a fixed penalty. In case of decreasing interest rates there is a risk that the
fixed penalty (which is an amount fixed by the Applicable Banking Regulation (as defined below)) does
not compensate fully the Issuer for the future earning losses that the Issuer will incur in case of
prepayment of loans by customers.

The Issuer uses a range of instruments and strategies to partly hedge against interest rate risks. If these
instruments and strategies prove ineffective or only partially effective, the Issuer may suffer losses.
Unforeseen market developments may significantly reduce the effectiveness of measures taken by the
Issuer to hedge such risks. Gains and losses from ineffective risk-hedging measures may heighten the
volatility of results achieved by the Issuer and could therefore have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s
business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Issuer is exposed to credit spread risk through its investment portfolio. Fluctuations in credit spreads
may have an adverse effect on the market value of debt securities in the Issuer’s investment portfolio.
Depending on the accounting treatment of these instruments, these market value fluctuations may affect
the capital position of the Issuer.

Risks affecting the Issuer’s procurement of liquidity

The procurement of liquidity for the Issuer’s operations and access to long term finance is crucial to
achieve the Issuer’s strategic goals, as they enable the Issuer to meet payment obligations in cash and on
delivery, scheduled or unscheduled, so as not to prejudice the Issuer’s activities or financial situation.

Liquidity risk is the risk that an insufficient amount of assets can be realised in order to repay financial
liabilities at the moment these become due. Although the Issuer believes it currently has a satisfactory
liquidity position, its procurement of liquidity could be adversely impacted by:

- substantial outflows in deposits;
- an unexpected prolongation of the outstanding receivables, e.g. the default of a loan;

- the risk that assets may be liquidated only at a serious discount due to a lack of interested
counterparties on the market;

- the inability to access the debt market, sell products or refinance existing obligations as a result
of the deterioration of market conditions, a lack of confidence in financial markets, uncertainty
and speculation regarding the solvency of the Issuer, a rating downgrade of the Issuer, and/or
operational problems;

- substantial outflow of liquidity due to fluctuations in collateral requirements related to
derivative transactions in the context of hedging arrangements.

The inability of the Issuer to raise required funds on terms that are favourable to the Issuer, difficulties
in obtaining long-term financings on terms which are favourable to the Issuer or addressing the
consequences of substantial outflows could adversely affect the Issuer’s business, financial condition and
results of operations. In this respect, the adoption of liquidity requirements under Basel III and CRD IV
(as defined below) must also be taken into account since these could give rise to an increased competition
leading to an increase in the costs of attracting necessary deposits and funding.
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1.3

Furthermore, protracted market declines can reduce the liquidity of markets that are typically liquid. If,
in the course of its activities, the Issuer requires significant amounts of cash on short notice (in excess of
anticipated cash requirements), the Issuer may have difficulty selling investments at attractive prices, in
a timely manner, or both. In such circumstances, market operators may fall back on support from central
banks and governments by pledging securities as collateral. Unavailability of liquidity through such
measures, or the decrease or discontinuation of such measures could result in a reduced availability of
liquidity on the market and higher costs for the procurement of such liquidity when needed, thereby
adversely affecting the Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The inability of a financial institution, including the respective entities of the Issuer, to anticipate and
take into account unforeseen falls or changes in its sources of financing can affect such a financial
institution’s ability to fulfil its obligations when they fall due.

As a large credit institution, the Issuer’s business is subject to credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty cannot meet its payment obligations. This can be as a result of
the insolvency of a customer or a counterparty or otherwise. This risk arises in both traditional loan
portfolios as well as investment portfolios. Any adverse changes in the credit quality of the Issuer’s
borrowers, counterparties or other obligors could affect the recoverability and value of its assets.

The Issuer’s assets are highly concentrated in lending to private individuals, more specifically mortgage
loans to individuals in Belgium and the Netherlands (as at 30 June 2022 the book value exposures of
mortgage loans stood at EUR 17.6 billion and EUR 19.2 billion respectively, or 34% and 37% of the
total balance sheet respectively). In addition, the Issuer is also diversifying its loan portfolio into lending
to Belgian local governments and real estate counterparties. Any adverse shock in these markets, such as
declining residential real estate prices, could negatively affect the results of the Issuer’s credit portfolio
because of the impact on the recovery value of the collateral. All this could be further exacerbated in the
event of a prolonged economic downturn or worsening market conditions. The consequences of rising
inflation, the economic and financial fall-out of the war in Ukraine, a decrease in the credit quality of
borrowers and counterparties of the Issuer, a general deterioration of the Belgian, Dutch or global
economic condition or a decrease caused by systemic risks can affect the recoverability of outstanding
loans and the value of the Issuer’s assets. It can also require an increase of the provision for Non-
Performing Loans, as well as other provisions. Any increase in provision for loan losses, any loan losses
in excess of the previously determined provisions or changes to estimates of the risk of loss inherent in
the portfolio of non-impaired loans could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s business, results
of operation or financial condition.

The Issuer holds a diversified portfolio of market securities in its investment portfolio (as at 30 June 2022
the book value stood at EUR 9.2 billion or 18% of the total balance sheet). These counterparties may
default on their obligations to the Issuer due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, downturns in the economy
or real estate values, operational failure or other reasons. Other parties to which the Issuer is exposed
include, among others, counterparties under swaps and other derivative contracts, clearing agents,
exchanges, clearing houses, guarantors and other financial intermediaries.

The performance of the Issuer is thus primarily affected by the level and the cyclical nature of the

business activities (investment services) in Belgium and the Netherlands, which in turn are influenced
by domestic and international economic and political events.
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1.4

The earnings and the capital position of the Issuer are subject to business risk, model risk and climate
risk

Business risk is the risk that current and future earnings, and capital levels will be affected by changes
in business volumes or by changes in margins and costs. Both of these can be caused by external market
conditions and/or the inability of the Issuer as an organisation to respond to these. This risk also takes
into account poor diversification of earnings or the inability to maintain a sufficient and reasonable level
of profitability.

Because of the strong concentration in mortgage loans to retail clients in the Belgian and Dutch retail
markets the Issuer is exposed to adverse developments in these markets. This includes the risk that target
production volumes cannot be reached, or a decrease in the commercial margins is observed, as a result
of increased market competition or other adverse events.

Model risk is the risk of decisions and calculations being related to the erroneous development,
implementation and/or wrong usage of models. Model risk is managed by adopting the principles and
controls set forth by the model risk management framework (“MRMF”).

Climate risk can be split between physical climate risk (more frequent or severe weather events like
flooding, drought or storms, changes in the weather pattern or the rise in sea levels) and transition risk
(changes in client and market behaviour, policy, technology and legislation related to moving to a less
polluting, greener economy). The Issuer considers climate risk as part of the financial risks to which it is
exposed and which could have an impact on the management and value of its retail portfolio and its
investment portfolio.

Business risk, model risk and climate risk could have an adverse effect on the earnings and capital
position of the Issuer and its financial condition.

Risk related to the macroeconomic environment

The potential recession caused by the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic or high inflation and rising
interest rates as well as geopolitical shocks (such as the war between Russia and Ukraine that started in
February 2022) could lead to new measures in the financial sector and a potential impact on the Issuer.

It is expected that this crisis will have an impact on credit losses in the coming years. Especially the
potential increase in unemployment rates and decrease in house prices could weigh negatively on
expected credit losses.

Given the uncertainty surrounding the further evolution of the pandemic and war between Russia and
Ukraine, it is impossible at any given time to make a reliable estimate of what the consequences will be
for the global economy and, more specifically, for the Issuer. The Issuer is closely monitoring the
situation and it is adopting a cautious and conservative approach. As at 30 June 2022, the Issuer’s
Common Equity Tier 1 ratio (IRB approach and phased in) amounted to 22.4% and the Issuer’s Liquidity
Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) amounted to 197% and its Net Stable Funding Ratio (“NSFR”) amounted to
145%. Depending on future developments relating to the economic and health impact of those crises,
there could be a material and adverse effect on the Issuer’s results of operations, financial condition or
prospects.

Noteholders should be aware that the risks linked to the COVID-19 pandemic and war between Russia
and Ukraine can also have an adverse influence on the other risks described hereafter.
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3.1

4.1

Risks relating to the Issuer’s business operations

The Issuer has to contend with operational/non-financial risks, including fraudulent and other criminal
activities (both internal and external), breakdowns in processes or procedures and systems failure or
non-availability

The Issuer is exposed to different types of non-financial risks such as compliance risk, legal risk, human
resources risk, business continuity risk, (out)sourcing risk, brand & sustainability risk, strategic and
change risk, risk in processes, information security & cyber risk, fraud risk, IT risk and data related risks.

On the other hand, the Issuer needs to process a very large number of transactions efficiently, accurately
and in accordance with internal policies and external legislation and regulations. Potential non-financial
risks include violation of the money laundering legislation, breach of confidentiality obligations and the
execution of unauthorised transactions. Non-financial risks and losses result from inadequate or failed
internal processes (such as processes not aligned with the legal requirements), human actions (including
fraud, employee errors), systems failure, or due to external events (such as cybercrime, breaches of data
security, natural disasters or malfunctions of external systems, including those of the Issuer’s suppliers
or counterparties). The consequences of these may extend to financial or reputational loss, as well as loss
of data. Additionally, the loss of key personnel could adversely affect the Issuer’s operations and results.

The Issuer expects that non-financial risks will gradually become more important in the Issuer’s various
businesses, owing to, amongst other things, the rapidly changing technological environment, the
increasing complexity, as well as a general trend towards outsourcing of non-core business activities.

The information security & cyber and data protection risk is a specific risk to which the Issuer is exposed.
The Issuer processes significant volumes of personal data relating to customers as part of its business,
some of which may also be classified under legislation as sensitive personal data. The Issuer must
therefore comply with strict data protection and privacy laws and regulations and bears the risk of
penalties if it does not comply with the standards as set by General Data Protection Regulation (EU)
2016/679, such as a personal data breach, meaning a breach of security leading to the accidental or
unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure of, or access to, personal data transmitted,
stored or otherwise processed by the Issuer.

The Issuer also faces the risk of a breach in the security of its information and communications
technology (“ICT”) systems, for example from increasingly sophisticated attacks by cybercrime groups.
In recent years, financial institutions have been impacted by a number of cyber incidents.

Data breaches or cyber-crimes could have a material adverse impact on the Issuer’s reputation and on its
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.

Legal, regulatory and tax risks

The Issuer is subject to the risk of having insufficient capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory
capital requirements

Under Basel II and 111, capital requirements are inherently more sensitive to market movements compared
to previous regimes. Capital requirements will increase if economic conditions or negative trends in the
financial markets worsen. Any failure of the Issuer to maintain its minimum regulatory capital ratios
could result in administrative actions or sanctions, which in turn may have a material adverse impact on
the Issuer’s results of operations. A shortage of available capital may restrict the Issuer’s opportunities
for expansion.

Please refer to the section “Banking Supervision” on page 167 for a more detailed overview of the
applicable legal and regulatory framework.
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Increased and changing regulations of the financial services industry may have an adverse effect on the
Issuer

Wherever the Issuer operates, it is subject to laws, regulations, administrative measures, and policies
governing financial services. Changes in the supervisory framework and regulations may affect the
activities, products, and services that the Issuer offers, or the value of its assets. Current regulation and
future regulatory developments could have an adverse impact on the business of the Issuer.

Significant regulatory developments have taken place in response to the global financial crisis, including
various initiatives and measures by the EU and individual national governments, the stress test
coordinated by the European Banking Authority in collaboration with the ECB and liquidity risk
assessments at European and national level.Recent regulatory and legislative developments applicable to
credit institutions such as the Issuer may adversely impact the Issuer, its business, financial condition or
results of operation. A non-exhaustive overview of certain important regulatory and legislative
developments, such as changes to the prudential requirements for credit institutions, capital adequacy
rules, recovery and resolution mechanisms, is set out in section “Description of the Issuer” on page 144.

Moreover, there seems to have been an increase in the level of scrutiny applied by governments and
regulators to enforce applicable regulations and calls to impose further charges on the financial services
industry in recent years. Such increased scrutiny or charges may require the Issuer to take additional
measures which, in turn, may have adverse effects on its business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Although the Issuer works closely with its regulators and continually monitors regulatory developments,
there can be no assurance that additional regulatory or capital requirements will not have an adverse
impact on the Issuer, or its business, financial condition or business results.

There can be no assurance that the implementation of these new standards, or any other new regulation,
will not require the Issuer to issue securities that qualify as regulatory capital, or to liquidate assets or
curtail business, all of which may have adverse effects on its business, financial condition or business
results.

The business operations of the Issuer are subject to ongoing regulation and associated regulatory risks,
including the effects of changes in the laws, regulations, policies and interpretations in Belgium and other
countries in which the Issuer operates.

Changes in supervision and regulation could materially affect the Issuer’s business, products and services
offered by it, or the value of its assets. In addition, the level of supervision by the governments and
supervisory authorities and the enforcement of the applicable rules seem to have increased with the start
of the global economic crisis, combined with increased pressure to impose further regulation and levies
on the financial services sector. There can be no assurance that such increased scrutiny or charges will
not require the Issuer to take additional measures, which in turn may have adverse effects on its business,
financial condition or business results.

With regard to taxation, the Issuer’s structure entails that a major part of the funding of the Issuer

(including the branch office in the Netherlands) is stemming from deposits, which makes the Issuer
sensitive to changes in Deposit Guarantee Scheme (“DGS”) contributions and bank levies.
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RISKS RELATING TO THE MORTGAGE PANDBRIEVEN

1.1

1.2

Risks relating to the Special Estate and the Cover Assets
Liguidity risk

The maturity and amortisation profile of the Cover Assets may not match the repayment profile and
maturities of the outstanding Mortgage Pandbrieven, therefore creating a liquidity shortage and as a
consequence a need for liquidity solutions at the level of the Programme.

The Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations require issuing credit institutions to have in place a liquidity
buffer, in order to enable the issuing credit institution to at all times cover (i) the Net Liquidity Outflow
(as defined below) of the relevant issue or issue programme, as well as (ii) the maximum cumulative Net
Liquidity Outflow calculated over a six month period (see Section “Overview of the Legal Framework
for Belgian Covered Bonds and Belgian Pandbrieven). To comply with the test, the Issuer is entitled to
hold certain liquid assets.

Under the terms and conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Issuer furthermore has the option to
purchase or repurchase, or to subscribe to, its own Mortgage Pandbrieven for liquidity purposes
(including, without limitation, for transactions with the European Central Bank) (see Conditions 3(g) and
3(h)). Also, under the terms and conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven, the maturity of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven will automatically be extended if and to the extent that the Issuer would not be in a position
to repay the Mortgage Pandbrieven within five (5) Business Days of their Maturity Date, if the Cover
Pool Administrator decides to extend the Maturity Date of the relevant Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven
in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against the Issuer or the Issuer is being resolved, or if
on the Maturity Date, there is another Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven outstanding which was previously
extended and which the Issuer fails to fully redeem on or prior to the Maturity Date. The Extended
Maturity Date will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. Pursuant to the Belgian Covered Bonds
Regulations, such Extended Maturity Date may not be later than one year from the original Maturity
Date. Any payment which is subject to such an extension shall, however, not be considered as an
outgoing payment flow (uitgaande betalingsstroom/flux de paiement sortant) for purposes of the
aforementioned liquidity buffer.

Furthermore, there are possible mismatches in the rates of interest received on the Cover Assets and
interest to be paid on the Mortgage Pandbrieven. This risk is mitigated by adding additional Cover Assets
to the Special Estate (overcollateralization) or could be mitigated by the entrance into Derivative
Contracts (see 1.13 “Reliance on Derivative Contract Counterparties”™).

Value and maintenance of the Special Estate

The Noteholders will, in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against the Issuer or the Issuer is
being resolved, have an exclusive claim on the Special Estate together with the Other Creditors (as
defined in Condition 17). The Cover Tests (as defined in in paragraph 1.2.5.2 of Section “Overview of
the Legal Framework for Belgian Covered Bonds and Belgian Pandbrieven”) applicable to the Special
Estate are intended to ensure that the Issuer maintains an adequate amount of Cover Assets in the Special
Estate to enable the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Mortgage Pandbrieven. Since the economic
value of the Cover Assets may change, the value of the Special Estate may decrease over time (e.g., if
there is a general decline in property values or an increase in borrower defaults, or a combination thereof).

Borrowers may default on their obligations under the Residential Mortgage Loans. Defaults may occur
for a variety of reasons. Credit, liquidity and interest rate risks affect the ability of borrowers to repay the
Residential Mortgage Loans. In addition the value of a real estate may change compared to its value at
the origination of the related Residential Mortgage Loan.
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Various general factors influence mortgage delinquency rates, prepayment rates, repossession frequency,
the ultimate payment of interest and principal and the value of a real estate, such as changes in the
international, national or regional economic climate or housing conditions, which can be directly or
indirectly affected by natural disasters, civil disturbances or pandemics, etc. Other general factors
possibly influencing the mortgage delinquency rates and values of real estate are changes in tax laws,
interest rates, inflation, the availability of financing, yields on alternative investments, political
developments and government policies.

Factors in mortgage borrowers' individual, personal or financial circumstances may also affect their
ability to repay the Residential Mortgage Loans. Loss of earnings, illness, divorce or widespread health

crises or the fear of such crises (including, but not limited to, coronavirus/COVID-19 (or any strain of
the foregoing), or other epidemic and/or pandemic diseases) and other similar factors may lead to an
increase in delinquencies by borrowers, and could ultimately have an adverse impact on the ability of
borrowers to repay the Mortgage Loans. In addition, governmental action or inaction in respect of, or
responses to, any widespread health crises or such potential crises (such as those mentioned previously),
whether in Belgium or in any other jurisdiction, may lead to a deterioration of economic conditions both
globally and also within Belgium. Given the unpredictable effect such factors may have on the local,
national or global economy, no assurance can be given as to the impact of any of the matters described
in this paragraph and, in particular, no assurance can be given that such matters would not adversely
affect the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The above factors (or a combination of them) may have an adverse effect on mortgage borrowers’ ability
to meet their mortgage payment obligations and/or value of the real estate. This could reduce the value
of the Residential Mortgage Loans and could result in losses for the Noteholders (and Other Creditors)
if the Special Estate is liquidated.

In addition, although the Cover Tests (and the Issuer’s obligation to remedy breaches of the Cover Tests)
are intended to ensure that the value of the Special Estate (as determined in accordance with the Belgian
Covered Bonds Regulations) is greater than the outstanding principal amount of Mortgage Pandbrieven
issued under the Programme and covered by the Special Estate, the Issuer may not be in a position to
originate or add Residential Mortgage Loans to the Special Estate in the future or the income generated
by or proceeds resulting from any sale or realisation of the Cover Assets may at the time of realisation
not be sufficient to enable the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Set-off risk

Under Belgian law, legal set-off occurs where two persons hold claims against each other, provided, in
general, that their debts exist, are fungible, liquid (vaststaand/liquide) and due (opeisbaar/exigible). As
a result, set-off rights may arise in respect of cross-claims between an underlying debtor of a Residential
Mortgage Loan and the Issuer, potentially reducing amounts receivable by the Special Estate.

Pursuant to the Mobilisation Law (as defined in paragraph 1.1 of Section “Overview of the Legal
Framework for Belgian Covered Bonds and Belgian Pandbrieven”), the underlying debtor of a
Residential Mortgage Loan may no longer invoke set-off of its debt with any claim that it would have
against the Issuer if the claim of the underlying debtor would only arise, or the conditions for set-off (as
set out in the preceding paragraph) would only be met, after (i) notification/acknowledgement of the
registration/transfer of the Residential Mortgage Loan in/to the Special Estate or (ii) (regardless any
notification/acknowledgement) the opening of insolvency proceedings against the Issuer or concurrence
of creditors.

The Special Estate may nevertheless still be subject to the rights of the underlying debtors of Residential
Mortgage Loans to invoke set-off against the Special Estate to the extent that the relevant claims against
the Issuer arise, or the conditions for set-off against the Issuer are met, prior to the earlier of (i) the
notification of the registration/transfer of the loan or (ii) the opening of insolvency proceedings against
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the Issuer or concurrence of creditors. The exercise of set-off rights by underlying debtors may adversely
affect the value of the Special Estate, may additionally affect any sale proceeds of the Special Estate and
may ultimately affect the ability of the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Cover Pool Administrator to
make payments under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Limited description of the Special Estate

Other than receipt of the regular investor report, the Noteholders will not receive detailed statistics or
information in relation to the Cover Assets in the Special Estate. There is no assurance that the
characteristics of the Cover Assets allocated to the Special Estate on the relevant Issue Date will be the
same as those of the Cover Assets in the Special Estate as at any date thereafter. As such, it is possible
that the composition of the Special Estate changes after the date of this Base Prospectus and these changes
may have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s financial position and its ability to perform its obligations
under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Mortgage mandates

Pursuant to the Belgian Covered Bonds Legislation, a Residential Mortgage Loan which is partly secured
by a mortgage mandate may be included in the Special Estate. Subject to certain valuation rules (see
“Overview of the Legal Framework for Belgian Covered Bonds and Belgian Pandbrieven ), the amounts
secured by the mortgage mandate may be taken into account for the purposes of the Cover Tests.

Noteholders should be aware that such mortgage mandate is not a security and that it will only provide a
security interest once the mandate has been exercised and a mortgage has been registered. Accordingly,
prior to such exercise, the Special Estate will not benefit from any security in respect of that portion of a
Residential Mortgage Loan covered by the mortgage mandate. Moreover, in certain circumstances as
further set out below, exercise of a mandate may even no longer be possible or may no longer result in
valid and effective security.

The following limitations, amongst others, exist in relation to the conversion of mortgage mandates:

. the borrower or the third party collateral provider that has granted a mortgage mandate may
transfer or otherwise encumber the relevant piece of real estate to a third party acting in good
faith, and a mortgage registered pursuant to the exercise of the mortgage mandate after such
transaction has been recorded at the mortgage register will not be enforceable against that third
party, although this would generally constitute a contractual breach of the standard loan
documentation;

. the borrower or the third party collateral provider that has granted a mortgage mandate may
grant a mortgage to a third party that will rank ahead of the mortgage to be created pursuant to
the conversion of the mortgage mandate, although this would generally constitute a contractual
breach of the standard loan documentation;

. if a conservatory or an executory attachment of the real property covered by the mortgage
mandate has been filed by a third party creditor of the borrower or, as the case may be, of the
third party collateral provider, a mortgage registered pursuant to the exercise of the mortgage
mandate after the writ of attachment has been recorded at the mortgage register will not be
enforceable against the creditor who filed the attachment;

. if the borrower or the third party collateral provider is an undertaking (onderneming/entreprise)

within the meaning of Article 1.1, 1° of the Belgian Code of Economic Law (i.e. individuals
carrying out a professional activity on a self-employed basis):
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. the mortgage mandate can no longer be converted following the bankruptcy of the
borrower or, as the case may be, the third party collateral provider and any mortgage
registered at the mortgage register after the bankruptcy judgment is void; and

. a mortgage registered at the mortgage register pursuant to the exercise of a mortgage
mandate during the pre-bankruptcy investigation period (i.e., after the date of cessation
of payments that may be fixed by the court) for a pre-existing loan will not be
enforceable against the bankrupt estate. Under certain circumstances, the clawback
rules are not limited in time, for example, where a mortgage has been granted pursuant
to a mortgage mandate and in order to "fraudulently prejudice" creditors; and

. mortgages registered after the day of cessation of payments of debt can be declared
void by the bankruptcy court, if the registration was made more than fifteen days after
the creation of the mortgage; and

. the effect of a judicial reorganisation (gerechtelijke reorganisatie/réorganisation
Jjudiciaire) of a borrower or of a third party collateral provider on the mortgage mandate
1S uncertain;

. if the borrower or the third party collateral provider, as the case may be, is not an undertaking
and started collective debt settlement proceedings, a mortgage registered at the mortgage
register after the court has declared the request admissible is not enforceable against the other
creditors of the borrower or of the third party collateral provider;

. besides the possibility that the borrower or the third party collateral provider may grant a
mortgage to another lender discussed above, the mortgage to be created pursuant to a mortgage
mandate may also rank behind certain statutory mortgages (such as, for example, the statutory
mortgage of the tax and the social security authorities) to the extent these mortgages are
registered before the exercise of the mortgage mandate. In this respect, it should be noted that
the notary involved in preparing the mortgage deed will need to notify the tax administration,
and, as the case may be, the social security administration before finalising the mortgage deed
pertaining to the creation of the mortgage;

. if the borrower or the third party collateral provider, as the case may be, is an individual, certain
limitations apply to the conversion of the mortgage mandate into a mortgage if the borrower or
third party collateral provider dies before the conversion.

In addition, prior to such exercise, third parties acting in good faith may register prior-ranking mortgages.

Once a mandate is exercised, the ensuing mortgage will rank at the highest level available at the time of
registration of such mortgage.

Changes to the lending criteria of the Issuer

Each of the Residential Mortgage Loans originated or to be originated by the Issuer will have been/will
be originated in accordance with its lending criteria applicable at the time of origination. It is expected
that the Issuer's lending criteria will generally consider, inter alia, type of property, term of the loan, age
and status of the applicant, the loan-to-value ratio, the debt service to income ratio and credit history.

The Issuer retains the right to revise its lending criteria from time to time as a reasonable, prudent
mortgage lender. If the lending criteria change in a manner that affects the creditworthiness of the
Residential Mortgage Loans, this may lead to increased defaults by borrowers and may ultimately
negatively affect the realisable value of the Special Estate, or part thereof, and the ability of the Issuer to
make payments under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.
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Belgian bankruptcy proceedings

Although any bankruptcy proceedings with respect to the Issuer would be limited to the General Estate,
there may be some adverse consequences with respect to the Special Estate as well.

Pursuant to the Belgian Covered Bonds Legislation, an insolvency administrator has a legal obligation
to cooperate with the Supervisory Authority and the Cover Pool Administrator in order to enable them
to manage the Special Estate in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations. There may be
certain practical difficulties in this respect which may cause a delay in the execution of the obligations
of the Special Estate towards the Noteholders (and Other Creditors).

Upon the initiation of bankruptcy proceedings against the Issuer, an insolvency administrator is entitled,
after consultation with the NBB, to require that the assets, which are with certainty no longer necessary
as Cover Assets, return to the General Estate. The preparatory works of the Belgian law of 3 August
2012 introducing the legal regime for Belgian covered bonds specified that the determination as to
whether certain cover assets constitute a surplus that is not necessary for the payment of the Noteholders
must take place in consultation with the NBB and must take into account not only the regulatory
requirements but also, as the case may be, the maintenance of the ratings assigned by external credit
ratings agencies. Even so, this would affect the value of the Special Estate and this may ultimately affect
the repayment of the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Sale of Cover Assets by the Cover Pool Administrator

The NBB may in accordance with Article 8 of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law, appoint a Cover
Pool Administrator in certain circumstances including (a) upon the adoption of a measure or sanction as
referred to in Article 8, § 1, 1° of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law in respect of the Issuer if such
measure or sanction or the reason(s) why it is imposed may, in the opinion of the NBB, negatively affect
(aantasten/affecter) the rights of the Noteholders and/or third parties having a claim on the Special Estate;
(b) in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against the Issuer or the Issuer is being resolved; (c)
upon the withdrawal of any of the authorisations referred to in Articles 80, §1 and 81, §1 of the Belgian
Banking Law; and in circumstances where the situation of the Issuer is such that it may seriously affect
(ernstig in gevaar kan brengen/mettre gravement en péril) the interests of the Noteholders. Following
such appointment, the Cover Pool Administrator, or any person appointed by the Cover Pool
Administrator, will be entitled to sell in whole or in part the Cover Assets in order to help satisfy the
Issuer's obligations in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. Without prejudice to the powers of the Cover
Pool Administrator to liquidate the Special Estate in the circumstances set out in Article 11 of Annex 111
to the Belgian Banking Law, the Cover Pool Administrator needs the approval of the NBB and of the
Noteholders’ Representative for every transaction, including the sale of Cover Assets, that entails or risks
to entail that the Cover Tests, the Liquidity Buffer or the contractual provisions can no longer be fulfilled.

There is no guarantee that the Cover Pool Administrator will be able to sell in whole or in part the Cover
Assets as the Cover Pool Administrator may not be able to find a buyer at the time it wants to sell. In
such case, there may be insufficient funds to make payments under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Transfer of the Special Estate in a situation of distress

In case liquidation proceedings are initiated against the Issuer, the Cover Pool Administrator, appointed
in accordance with Article 8 of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law, may, subject to the approval of
the NBB and following consultation with the Noteholders’ Representative, transfer the Special Estate
(i.e. all assets and liabilities) and its management to an institution which will be entrusted with the
continued performance of the obligations to the Noteholders in accordance with the applicable Terms
and Conditions.
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Even though the rights of the Noteholders against the Special Estate will be maintained and will follow
the Special Estate on any such transfer, investors should be aware that in such circumstances the obligor
under the Mortgage Pandbrieven will no longer be the Issuer, but will be the institution to which the
Special Estate is transferred. Any such transfer and change of debtor will be discussed with the
Noteholders' Representative but will not require the consent of the Noteholders.

In a similar vein, within the framework of resolution measures taken in accordance with the provisions
of the Belgian Banking Law, the Relevant Resolution Authority may under certain conditions impose a
transfer of all or part of the assets and/or liabilities of the Issuer to (a) a bridge institution (instrument
van de overbruggingsinstelling/instrument de [’établissement-relais), (b) a specially created asset
management vehicle (instrument van afsplitsing van activa/instrument de séparation des actifs), or (c)
another acquirer (instrument van verkoop van de onderneming/instrument de cession des activités)
(Article 255 and following of the Belgian Banking Law). Such transfer may include the Special Estate.
In such event, the rights of the Noteholders will be maintained and transferred together with the cover
assets that form the Special Estate. Such transfer may have an adverse effect on the value of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven.

Other Creditors of the Cover Pool and subordination

The terms and conditions provide, in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations, that the
Other Creditors also have recourse against the Special Estate. These include the Noteholders’
Representative, any Operating Creditor and any Derivative Contract Counterparty, as well as the Cover
Pool Administrator.

Moreover, in accordance with the Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments (see Condition 17 (Post-
Acceleration Priority of Payments) the claims of the Noteholders may be subordinated to the claims of
the Noteholders’ Representative, the Cover Pool Administrator and the Operating Creditors and will rank
pari passu with the claims of any Derivative Contract Counterparty (subject to certain exceptions).

As a result, it is possible that none or only part of the proceeds of the Special Estate are applied in
satisfaction of amounts due and payable to the Noteholders which may result in a loss to Noteholders.

Noteholders may not immediately accelerate the Covered Bonds upon a breach of the Cover Tests or the
Liquidity Buffer or an Issuer's bankruptcy

Breach of the Cover Tests or the Liquidity Buffer and the opening of liquidation proceedings with respect
to the Issuer will not give them the right to declare the Mortgage Pandbrieven immediately due and
payable. Mortgage Pandbrieven which have not yet reached their maturity will not automatically
accelerate as a result of a breach of the Cover Tests or the Liquidity Buffer or the opening of a liquidation
procedure against the Issuer, without prejudice to an early repayment of the Covered Bonds and
liquidation of the Special Estate pursuant to Article 11, 6° and 7° of Annex III to the Belgian Banking
Law (see “Overview of the Legal Framework for Belgian Covered Bonds and Belgian Pandbrieven™).

Other than pursuant to a Payment Default after which an Acceleration Notice has been served under
Condition 16 (Payment Default and Cross-Acceleration) or pursuant to Article 11, 7° of Annex III to the
Belgian Banking Law, the Noteholders cannot direct an acceleration of the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Reliance on other third parties

The Issuer has entered into agreements with a number of third parties which have agreed to perform
services for the Special Estate. To the extent such counterparties do not perform their obligations under
the Programme Documents, this may result in the Special Estate not being able to meet its obligations
under the Mortgage Pandbrieven. This may have an adverse effect on a Noteholder’s investment in the
Mortgage Pandbrieven and its return.
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None of the third parties will have any obligation itself to advance payments that Borrowers fail to make
in a timely fashion. Noteholders will have no right to consent to or approve of any actions taken by such
third parties.

Reliance on Derivative Contract Counterparties

To provide a hedge against interest rate and/or other risks in respect of amounts received by the Issuer
under the Residential Mortgage Loans forming part of the Cover Assets and under the other Cover Assets
and the interest rate and amounts payable by the Issuer under the Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Issuer may-
although it is not the intention at the date of the Base Prospectus- enter into a Derivative Contract with a
Derivative Contract Counterparty in respect of a Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven.

If the Issuer fails to make timely payments of amounts due under any Derivative Contract, then it will
have defaulted under that Derivative Contract. A Derivative Contract Counterparty is only obliged to
make payments to the Issuer as long as the Issuer complies with its payment obligations under the
relevant Derivative Contract. If the Derivative Contract Counterparty is not obliged to make payments
or if it defaults on its obligations to make payments of amounts in the relevant currency equal to the full
amount to be paid to the Issuer on the due date for payment under the relevant Derivative Contract, the
Issuer will be exposed to any changes in the relevant rates of interest. Unless a replacement Derivative
Contract is timely entered into (which may be at worse terms than the original Derivative Contract or
which may not be possible at all), the Issuer may have insufficient funds to make payments to the
Noteholders under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

If a Derivative Contract terminates, then the Issuer may be obliged to make a termination payment to the
relevant Derivative Contract Counterparty. There can be no assurance for the Noteholders that the Issuer
will have sufficient funds available to make a termination payment under the relevant Derivative
Contract, nor can there be any assurance that the Issuer will be able to enter into a replacement Derivative
Contract or, if one is entered into, that the credit rating of the replacement swap counterparty will be
sufficiently high to prevent a downgrade of the then current ratings of the Mortgage Pandbrieven by a
Rating Agency. Any such downgrade may have an adverse effect on the value of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven.

Following a decision of the Cover Pool Administrator to early redeem the Mortgage Pandbrieven
pursuant to Article 11, 6° and 7° of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law or following the delivery of a
Notice of Default and with respect to funds derived from the Special Estate, if the Issuer is obliged to
pay a termination payment under any Derivative Contract that constitutes a Cover Asset, such termination
payment will rank pari passu with amounts due on the Mortgage Pandbrieven, except where default by,
or downgrade of, the relevant Derivative Contract Counterparty has caused the relevant Derivative
Contract to terminate (See Condition 17). Additionally, Noteholders should consider reinvestment risk
in light of other investments available at that time.

Commingling Risk

To the extent that the bank accounts into which collections in respect of the Special Estate are paid or
where funds are otherwise held for the Special Estate are held with the Issuer, a commingling risk cannot,
as a practical matter, be excluded in the event of bankruptcy of the Issuer.

This risk is mitigated to some extent by the revindication mechanism provided in Article 3, §2, second
indent of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law pursuant to which the rights over any amounts that are
part of the Special Estate but that cannot be identified as such in the General Estate are transferred by
operation of law to other unencumbered assets in the General Estate selected in accordance with the
criteria specified in Terms and Conditions (See Condition 7(a) (Criteria for transfer of assets from the
general estate)). To the extent that there are not enough unencumbered assets available for purposes of
revindication as set out above, the Mortgage Pandbrieven may be repaid later than expected or not at all.
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Furthermore, a commingling risk exists to the extent that certain underlying debtors are not notified on
time or otherwise continue to make payments to the Issuer accounts or to the extent that cash may not be
able to be withdrawn from such accounts in such circumstances, the Special Estate or the Cover Pool
Administrator, as the case may be, may not be in a position to make timely payments. This risk is
mitigated to some extent by the undertaking of the Issuer that it will ensure that the Special Estate will
at all times include liquid bonds, meeting certain specified criteria, that have a market value which is
higher than the amount of interest due and payable on the outstanding Mortgage Pandbrieven within a
period of six months (See Condition 9).

Risks relating to the Mortgage Pandbrieven
The Mortgage Pandbrieven are subject to early redemption by the Issuer, subject to certain conditions
Redemption at the option of the Issuer

If so specified in the Final Terms, the Mortgage Pandbrieven may be redeemed early at the option of the
Issuer. An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of the Mortgage Pandbrieven.
During any period when the Issuer may elect or is perceived to be able to elect to redeem the Mortgage
Pandbrieven, the market value of the Mortgage Pandbrieven generally will not rise substantially above
the price at which they can be redeemed. In addition, Noteholders will not receive a make-whole amount
or any other compensation in the event of an early redemption of the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem the Mortgage Pandbrieven when its cost of borrowing is lower
than the interest rate on the Mortgage Pandbrieven. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk
in light of other investments available at that time.

Redemption for Taxation Reasons

The Issuer will be entitled to redeem the Mortgage Pandbrieven early if, as a result of a Tax Law Change
(as defined in Condition 3(e) (Redemption upon occurrence of a Tax Event)), it becomes obliged to pay
additional amounts or (where “Tax Deductibility Event” is specified as applicable in the relevant Final
Terms) it can no longer deduct payments in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven for Belgian income tax
purposes. On the occurrence of any such Tax Event (as defined in Condition 3(e) (Redemption upon
occurrence of a Tax Event)), the Issuer may at its option (but subject to certain conditions, redeem all,
but not some only, of any relevant Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven at the applicable Tax Event
Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 3(e) (Redemption upon occurrence of a Tax Event))
together with any accrued but unpaid interest up to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption.

The redemption of the Mortgage Pandbrieven upon the occurrence of a Tax Event, or the (perceived)
prospect of such redemption, could have a material adverse effect on the value of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven.

Redemption for Illegality

The Issuer will be entitled to redeem the Mortgage Pandbrieven early if it has, or will become unlawful
for the Issuer to (i) make any payments or (ii) comply with its obligations under the Mortgage
Pandbrieven, or (iii) allow any Mortgage Pandbrieven to remain outstanding, as a result of any change
in, or amendment to, the applicable laws or regulation or any change in the application or official
interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment has become or will become
effective before the next Interest Payment Date (as defined in Condition 2(j) (Definitions). The Issuer
may at its option (but subject to certain conditions, as set out in Condition 3(f) (Redemption for Illegality)
redeem all, but not some only, of any relevant Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven at the applicable Change
of Law Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 3(f) (Redemption for Illegality) together with any
accrued but unpaid interest up to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption.
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Extension risk

The terms and conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven issued pursuant to this Base Prospectus contain
an Extended Maturity Date. As a result thereof the Maturity Date will be automatically extended by one
year if (i) the Issuer has insufficient funds available to redeem the Mortgage Pandbrieven in full within
five Business Days of their Maturity Date or (ii) the Cover Pool Administrator decides to extend the
Maturity Date of the relevant Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven in the event liquidation proceedings are
initiated against the Issuer or the Issuer is being resolved.

An extension of one Series does not automatically trigger the extension of other Series. However, if the
maturity date of any Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven has been extended in accordance with the relevant
terms and conditions (the “Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven”), and the Maturity Date of another Series
of Mortgage Pandbrieven (the “Relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven”) falls prior to the extended maturity
date of the Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Maturity Date of such Relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven
shall also be extended in accordance with Condition 3(j)(i) if on the Maturity Date of the Relevant
Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven have not yet been redeemed in full and all
interest accrued in respect thereof has not been paid. Without prejudice to the Post-Acceleration Priority
of Payments (as defined in Condition 17), the Issuer will only make a payment of principal pursuant to
Condition 3(a) (Final Redemption) or pursuant to Condition 3(j) (Extension of Maturity up to Extended
Maturity Date) where the Extended Maturity Date of the Relevant Mortgage Pandbrieven falls after the
extended maturity date of the Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven, after or simultaneously with the
redemption in full of the Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven and payment of all interest accrued in respect
thereof. This mechanism is foreseen to ensure that the extension of the Maturity Date of one Series of
Mortgage Pandbrieven does not alter or invert the sequencing of the covered bond programme’s original
maturity schedule, as is required by Article 13/1, § 2 of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law.

‘Extended Mortgage Pandbrieven’ as referred to in this section shall include any other Series of Mortgage
Pandbrieven extended on the basis of provisions similar to this Condition 3(j)(ii) included in the relevant
terms and conditions of such other Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven in accordance with Article 13/1, §2
in fine of Annex III to the Banking Law.

Accordingly, Noteholders are exposed to an extension risk. In that event, the Mortgage Pandbrieven will
bear interest on the principal amount outstanding of the Mortgage Pandbrieven in accordance with the
relevant Final Terms. Moreover, to the extent that the Issuer has sufficient funds available to redeem the
relevant Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven on any Interest Payment Date falling after such extension, the
Issuer shall be required to redeem the outstanding principal amount under such Mortgage Pandbrieven
on any such Extension Payment Date.

The extension of the maturity of the particular Series of the Mortgage Pandbrieven from the Maturity
Date to the Extended Maturity Date will not result in any right of the Noteholders to accelerate payments
or take action against the Special Estate and no payment will be payable to the Noteholders in that event
other than as set out in the Conditions and applicable Final Terms. The payment of the remaining unpaid
amount shall become due and payable on the Extended Maturity Date.

The market value for Mortgage Pandbrieven can be volatile

The interest rate level on the money and capital markets may fluctuate on a daily basis and cause the
value of the Mortgage Pandbrieven to change on a daily basis. This interest rate risk is a result of the
uncertainty with respect to future changes in the level of market interest rate. In particular, holders of
fixed rate Mortgage Pandbrieven are exposed to an interest rate risk that could result in a decrease in
value if the level of the market interest rate increases. In general, the effects of this risk increases as the
market interest rates increase.
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Mortgage Pandbrieven with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to
include caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, their market
values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include such features.

Moreover, the reference rate could be zero or even negative. Even if the relevant reference rate becomes
negative, it will still remain the basis for the calculation of the interest rate, and a margin, if applicable,
will be added to such negative interest rate.

Investors will not be able to calculate in advance their rate of return on Floating Rate Mortgage
Pandbrieven

A key difference between Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven, on the one hand, and Fixed Rate
Mortgage Pandbrieven, on the other, is that interest income on Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven
cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not able to determine a definite yield
for Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven at the time they purchase them, so that their return on investment
cannot be compared with that of investments bearing fixed interest rate.

Zero Coupon Mortgage Pandbrieven are subject to greater price fluctuations than non-discounted
Mortgage Pandbrieven

Changes in market interest rates have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero Coupon
Mortgage Pandbrieven than on the prices of interest-bearing Mortgage Pandbrieven because the
discounted issue prices can be substantially below par. If market interest rates increase, Zero Coupon
Mortgage Pandbrieven can suffer higher price losses than other Mortgage Pandbrieven having the same
maturity and credit rating. Due to their leverage effect, Zero Coupon Mortgage Pandbrieven are a type
of investment associated with a particularly high price risk.

Fluctuating market value for Mortgage Pandbrieven issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of Mortgage Pandbrieven issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal
amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for
conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the
greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable
maturities.

Modifications and waivers

The Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven contain provisions for calling meetings of
Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally, including modifications to the Terms
and Conditions. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders, including
Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner
contrary to the majority. Noteholders might therefore be bound by certain amendments to the Mortgage
Pandbrieven to which they did not consent and which may result in less favourable terms of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven for all or certain Noteholders.

In addition, pursuant to Condition 2(m) (Benchmark replacement), if a Benchmark Event occurs, certain
changes may be made to the interest calculation and related provisions of the Floating Rate Mortgage
Pandbrieven as well as the Agency Agreement and/or Calculation Agency Agreement in the
circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, without the requirement for the consent of the
Noteholders.

Furthermore, the Noteholders’ Representative may, without the consent of the Noteholders (or any Other

Creditor), agree to modifications or waivers with regard to the Mortgage Pandbrieven and the
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Programme, if the Noteholders' Representative is of the opinion that the proposed modification or waiver

is (i) not materially prejudicial to the interest of any of the (relevant series of) Mortgage Pandbrieven; or
(i1) of a formal, minor or technical nature; or (iii) to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory
provisions of law, or (iv) in order to comply with or reflect the Covered Bonds Regulations, as amended
from time to time.

Change of laws (including tax laws)

The Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven are, save to the extent referred to therein, based
on legislation in effect as at the date of issue of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. No assurance can be given
as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or changes to the laws in Belgium, other jurisdictions
(such as FATCA under US law) or on a supranational level (e.g. EU Financial Transaction Tax) or
administrative practice after the date of issue of the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

In addition, any relevant tax law or practice applicable as at the date of this Base Prospectus and/or the
date of purchase or subscription of the Mortgage Pandbrieven may change at any time (including during
any subscription period or the term of the Mortgage Pandbrieven). Any such change may have an adverse
effect on a Noteholder, including that the Mortgage Pandbrieven may be redeemed before their due date,
their liquidity may decrease and/or the tax treatment of amounts payable or receivable by or to an affected
Noteholder may be less than otherwise expected by such Noteholder.

Specific risks relating to Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds

Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking
exposure to green or sustainable assets and may not meet investor expectations or requirements. Any
failure to use the net proceeds of any Series of Green Bonds in connection with green or sustainable
projects, and/or any failure to meet, or to continue to meet, the investment requirements of certain
environmentally focused investors with respect to such Green Bonds may affect the value and/or trading
price of the Green Bonds, and/or may have consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates
to invest in green or sustainable assets.

The Issuer has established a green bond framework (the “Green Bond Framework’) under which it can
issue Green Bonds and the Green Bond Framework is available on the Issuer’s website
(https://www.argenta.eu/investor-relations/debt-issuance.html).

The Issuer may request a sustainability rating agency or sustainability consulting firm to issue an
independent opinion (a “Compliance Opinion”) confirming that the Issuer’s Green Bond Framework is
aligned with the ICMA Green Bond Principles.

On 11 January 2022 Sustainalytics issued such Compliance Opinion in respect of the alignment of the
Issuer’s Green Bond Framework with the ICMA Green Bond Principles (2021). However, there is no
assurance that this Compliance Opinion will remain valid and there is no obligation for the Issuer to
obtain an updated opinion. Furthermore, the Compliance Opinion could be withdrawn or become
outdated.

Neither the Issuer nor the Dealers nor the Arranger make any representation as to the suitability for any
purpose of any Compliance Opinion or whether any Green Bonds fulfil the relevant present or future
environmental and sustainability criteria or guidelines with which an investor or its investments is or are
required, or intends, to comply, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental or
sustainability impact of any project or uses, the subject of or related to, the Green Bond Framework
and/or any relevant Eligible Green Loan Portfolio.

No assurance is or can be given to investors by the Issuer or any other person that any projects or uses
the subject of, or related to, any Green Bonds will meet or continue to meet on an ongoing basis any or
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all investor expectations regarding "green", "sustainable", "social" or similar labels (including Regulation
(EU) 2020/852 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment (the so called
"EU Taxonomy") or Regulation (EU) 2020/852 as it forms part of domestic law in the United Kingdom
by virtue of the EUWA) or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur
during the implementation of any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, the Issuer’s Green Bond
Framework and/or any relevant Eligible Green Loan Portfolio.

Prospective investors should have regard to the eligible green bond projects and eligibility criteria
described in the Issuer’s Green Bond Framework and the relevant Final terms (if applicable). Each
potential purchaser of any Series of Green Bonds should determine for itself the relevance of the
information contained in this Base Prospectus and in the relevant Final Terms regarding the use of
proceeds and its purchase of any Green Bonds should be based upon such investigation and due diligence
as it deems necessary.

Further, although the Issuer may agree at the Issue Date of any Green Bonds to certain allocation and/or
impact reporting and to use the proceeds for the financing and/or refinancing of green or sustainable
projects (as specified in the relevant Final Terms), it would not (a) be an event of default under the Green
Bonds; (b) give rise to any other claim or right (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the right to
accelerate the Mortgage Pandbrieven) of a holder of such Green Bonds against the Issuer; (c) lead to an
obligation of the Issuer to redeem such Mortgage Pandbrieven or be a relevant factor for the Issuer in
determining whether or not to exercise any optional redemption rights in respect of any Mortgage
Pandbrieven, or (d) impact the regulatory treatment of the Green Bonds if (i) the Issuer were to fail to
comply with such obligation or were to fail to use the proceeds in the manner specified in the relevant
Final Terms; (ii) the Compliance Opinion were to be withdrawn or be no longer valid or renewed and/or
(iii) there would be a lack of eligible green assets in which the Issuer may invest. For the avoidance of
doubt, payments of principal and/or interest (as the case may be) on the relevant Green Bonds shall not
depend on the performance of the Eligible Green Loan Portfolio nor have any preferred right against
such assets. Any failure to use the net proceeds of any Series of Green Bonds towards financing or
refinancing of the Eligible Green Loan Portfolio, and/or any failure to meet, or to continue to meet, the
investment requirements of certain environmental focused investors with respect to such Green Bonds
may affect the value and/or trading price of the Green Bonds, and/or may have consequences for certain
investors with portfolio mandates to invest in green or sustainable assets.

The occurrence of any of the above factors may cause damage to the Issuer’s reputation and may have a
material adverse effect on the value of such Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds and also
potentially the value of any other Mortgage Pandbrieven and/or result in adverse consequences for certain
investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a particular purpose (which
consequences may include the need to sell such Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds as a result
of such Mortgage Pandbrieven not falling within the investor's investment criteria or mandate).

No assurance of suitability or reliability of any compliance opinion/second party opinion

No representation or assurance is given as to the suitability or reliability of any opinion or certification
of any third party made available in connection with an issue of Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green
Bonds, including the Compliance Opinion. For the avoidance of doubt, the Compliance Opinion or any
other such opinion or certification is not incorporated in this Base Prospectus. The Compliance Opinion
or any other such opinion or certification is not a recommendation by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Dealers
or any other person to buy, sell or hold any such Mortgage Pandbrieven and is current only as of the date
it was issued.

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, the providers of such opinions and certifications are not subject

to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Prospective investors must determine for
themselves the relevance of any such opinion or certification and/or the information contained therein.
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No Event of Default

While it is the intention of the Issuer to apply an amount equal to the net proceeds of any Mortgage
Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds for Eligible Green Loan Portfolio and to report on the use of proceeds
or Eligible Green Loan Portfolio as described in the applicable Final Terms, there is no contractual
obligation on it to do so.

There can be no assurance that any such Eligible Green Loan Portfolio will be available or capable of
being implemented in the manner anticipated and, accordingly, that the Issuer will be able to use such
amounts for such Eligible Green Loan Portfolio as intended. In addition, there can be no assurance that
the Eligible Green Loan Portfolio will be completed as expected or achieve the impacts or outcomes
(environmental, social or otherwise) originally expected or anticipated. A failure by the Issuer to allocate
an amount equal to the net proceeds of any Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds or to report on
the use of such amounts or Eligible Green Loan Portfolio as anticipated or a failure of a third party to
issue (or to withdraw) an opinion or certification in connection with an issue of Green Bonds or the
failure of the Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds to meet investors' expectations requirements
regarding any "green" or similar labels will not constitute an Event of Default or breach of contract with
respect to any of the Mortgage Pandbrieven issued as Green Bonds.

Risks in connection with the status of the investor
No tax gross-up protection for Non-Eligible Investors

The Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven do not require the Issuer to gross-up the net
payments received by a Noteholder in relation to the Mortgage Pandbrieven with any amounts withheld
or deducted for Belgian tax purposes if the Noteholder (i) was not, at the time of the issue of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven, an eligible investor within the meaning of Article 4 of the Royal Decree of 26 May 1994
on the deduction of withholding tax (an “Eligible Investor”) or (ii) was, at the time of issue of the
Mortgage Pandbrieven, an Eligible Investor but, for reasons within the holder’s control, ceased to be an
Eligible Investor or, (iii) at any relevant time on or after the issue of the Mortgage Pandbrieven, otherwise
failed to meet any other condition for the exemption of Belgian withholding tax pursuant to the law of 6
August 1993 relating to transactions with certain securities (each a “Non-Eligible Investor”).

If the Issuer, the NBB, the Paying Agent or any other person is required to make any withholding or
deduction for, or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties or charges of whatever nature in
respect of any payment in respect of Mortgage Pandbrieven held by Non-Eligible Investors, the Issuer,
the NBB, the Paying Agent or that other person shall make such payment after such withholding or
deduction has been made and will account to the relevant authorities for the amount so required to be
withheld or deducted.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven may only be held by, and may only be transferred to, Eligible Investors
holding their Mortgage Pandbrieven in an exempt account that has been opened with a financial
institution that is a direct or indirect participant in the Securities Settlement System operated by the NBB.

Potential investors are advised not to rely upon the tax summary contained in this Base Prospectus but
to consult their own independent tax advisers regarding their individual taxation with respect to the
acquisition, holding, sale and redemption of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. Only these advisers are in a
position to duly consider the specific situation of the potential investor. In addition, potential purchasers
should be aware that tax regulations and their application by the relevant taxation authorities change from
time to time. Accordingly, it is not possible to predict the precise tax treatment, which will apply at any
given time. This risk factor has to be read in connection with the taxation sections of this Base Prospectus.
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Other risks

A holder’s actual yield on the Mortgage Pandbrieven may be reduced from the stated yield by transaction
COSts

When Mortgage Pandbrieven are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including
transaction fees and commissions) are incurred in addition to the current price of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven. These incidental costs may significantly reduce or even exclude the profit potential of the
Mortgage Pandbrieven. For instance, credit institutions as a rule charge their clients for own commissions
which are either fixed minimum commissions or pro-rata commissions depending on the order value. To
the extent that additional — domestic or foreign — parties are involved in the execution of an order,
including but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers in foreign markets, Noteholders must take into
account that they may also be charged for the brokerage fees, commissions and other fees and expenses
of such parties (third party costs).

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of Mortgage Pandbrieven (direct costs),
Noteholders must also take into account any follow-up costs (such as custody fees). Prospective investors
should inform themselves about any additional costs incurred in connection with the purchase, custody
or sale of the Mortgage Pandbrieven before investing in the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

An active secondary market in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven may never be established or may be
illiquid and this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his Mortgage
Pandbrieven

Any Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven will be newly issued securities which may not be widely distributed
and for which there is currently no active trading market (even where, in the case of any particular
Tranche, such Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single series with a Tranche of Mortgage
Pandbrieven which is already issued).

Illiquidity may have a material adverse effect on the market value of Mortgage Pandbrieven and cause
low trading volumes. In a similar vein, liquidity is likely to be very limited if the relevant Mortgage
Pandbrieven are not listed or no listing is obtained. If the Mortgage Pandbrieven are traded after their
initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing
interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition
of the Issuer. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell the Mortgage Pandbrieven easily or not at a
price that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments for which there is a(n) (active)
secondary market). Although application may be made for Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the
Programme to be admitted to the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to trading on the
Market, there is no assurance that (i) such application will be accepted, (ii) any particular Tranche of
Mortgage Pandbrieven will be so admitted, (iii) an active trading market will develop and/or maintained
or that any listing or admission to trading will be maintained. Mortgage Pandbrieven may also be issued
without an application to be listed.

Accordingly, there is no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any trading market for any
particular Tranche of Mortgage Pandbrieven, nor that such application for any listing or admission to
trading will be maintained in respect of every Tranche of Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The Issuer is allowed to purchase and hold Mortgage Pandbrieven at any time, but the Issuer is not
obliged to do so. Purchases made by the Issuer could affect the liquidity of the secondary market of the
Mortgage Pandbrieven and thus negatively impact the price and the conditions under which investors
can negotiate these Mortgage Pandbrieven on the secondary market. In addition, the Issuer is not
restricted from issuing additional debt, and any future debt may be on better terms than the Mortgage
Pandbrieven. There is no restriction on the amount of debt that the Issuer may issue, which may rank
senior to or pari passu with the Mortgage Pandbrieven and which may benefit from security or guarantees
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that are not offered to the holders of Mortgage Pandbrieven. The Issuer may also create additional Special
Estates, and the holders of Mortgage Pandbrieven will not have recourse to such additional Special
Estates. The issue of any such additional debt or securities may reduce the amount recoverable by
Noteholders upon the Issuer's bankruptcy or resolution (without prejudice to the Special Estate and the
Overcollateralisation Test).

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are not covered by any government compensation or insurance scheme and
do not have the benefit of any government guarantee

An investment in the Mortgage Pandbrieven will not be covered by any compensation or insurance
scheme of any government agency of Belgium or any other jurisdiction, and the Mortgage Pandbrieven
do not have the benefit of any government guarantee. The Mortgage Pandbrieven are the Issuer’s
obligation only and Noteholders must solely look to the Issuer for the performance of the Issuer’s
obligations under the Mortgage Pandbrieven. In the event of the Issuer’s insolvency, a holder may lose
all or some of its investment in the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are not covered by the “Deposit and financial instrument protection scheme”
as established by the Act of 17 December 1998 on the establishment of a deposit and financial instrument
protection scheme, nor are they covered by the “Special protection funds for deposits and life
insurances”, as established by Article 3 of the Royal Decree of 14 November 2008 on measures to
promote financial stability and, in particular, to set up a government guarantee for loans granted and
other transactions in the context of financial stability, as regards the protection of deposits, life insurance
and the capital of authorised cooperative societies. Accordingly, the Mortgage Pandbrieven will not be
repaid, recovered or refunded by the “Deposit and financial instrument protection scheme”, nor by the
“Special protection funds for deposits and life insurances”.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks and may be lowered, suspended, withdrawn or not maintained

There is no guarantee that any ratings will be assigned to the Mortgage Pandbrieven or that such ratings
will be maintained. The ratings may furthermore not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to
structure, market and additional factors discussed herein, and other factors (including a change of control
affecting the Issuer) that may affect the value of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. A credit rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the relevant rating
agency at any time. Any adverse change in the applicable credit rating or the assignment of an
unfavourable rating by a rating agency could adversely affect the trading price for the Mortgage
Pandbrieven.

If any credit rating assigned to the Mortgage Pandbrieven is lowered or withdrawn, the market value of
the Mortgage Pandbrieven may reduce.

The Paying Agent is not required to segregate amounts received by it in respect of Mortgage Pandbrieven
cleared through the Securities Settlement System

The Agency Agreement (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven) provides
that the Paying Agent (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven) will debit
the relevant account of the Issuer and use such funds to make payment to the Noteholders.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven will be represented exclusively by book entries in the records of the Securities
Settlement System and access is available through its Securities Settlement System participants whose
membership extends to securities such as the Mortgage Pandbrieven. Anyone who is not a participant in
the Securities Settlement System that wants to invest in the Mortgage Pandbrieven, must do so through
a participant or a sub-participant. The Issuer relies on the Paying Agent to enter the relevant Mortgage
Pandbrieven in the Securities Settlement System and to receive and make payments through the
Securities Settlement System. Failures in the procedures or operations of the Securities Settlement
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System and/or its (sub)-participants can affect (timely) completion of transactions relating to the
Mortgage Pandbrieven. Additionally, noteholders may be subject to insolvency risks of the Securities
Settlement System and/or its (sub)-participants through which it holds Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The Agency Agreement also provides that the Paying Agent will, after receipt by it of the relevant
amounts, pay to the Noteholder, directly or through the Securities Settlement System, any amounts due
in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. However, the Paying Agent is not required to segregate any
such amounts received by it in respect of the Mortgage Pandbrieven, and in the event that the Paying
Agent were subject to insolvency proceedings at any time when it held any such amounts, the Issuer
would be required to claim such amounts from the Paying Agent in accordance with applicable
insolvency laws and may not be able to recover all or part of such amounts. This may impact the Issuer’s
ability to meet its obligations under the Mortgage Pandbrieven.

The regulation and reform of Benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Mortgage Pandbrieven
linked to or referencing such Benchmark

Reference Rates and indices, including interest rate benchmarks, such as the Euro Interbank Offered Rate
(“EURIBOR”), which is deemed to be ‘benchmarks’ (“Benchmarks”) and which may be used to
determine the amounts payable under financial instruments or the value of such financial instruments,
are the subject of recent and on-going reforms. These reforms may cause Benchmarks to perform
differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the “Benchmark Regulation”), subject to certain transitional provisions,
applies to the provision of Benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a Benchmark and the use of a
Benchmark within the European Union. Among other things, the Benchmark Regulation (i) requires
Benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if based outside the European Union, to be
subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevents certain uses by
EU supervised entities of Benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if based
outside the European Union, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

Pursuant to Article 28.2 of the Benchmark Regulation, the Issuer must produce and maintain robust
written plans setting out the actions that it would take in the event that a Benchmark materially changes
or ceases to be provided. Reference is made to Condition 2(m) (Benchmark replacement) which provides
for certain fall-back arrangements in the event “Benchmark Replacement” is specified as applicable in
the relevant Final Terms and a Benchmark Event occurs.

On 10 April 2019, the European Money Markets Institute (formerly EURIBOR-EBF) (“EMMI”) applied
for authorisation as administrator of EURIBOR. On 2 July 2019, following the positive advice of the
EURIBOR College of Supervisors, the FSMA granted the requested authorisation to EMMI, by
application of the Benchmark Regulation. The fact that EMMI has obtained authorisation as
administrator of EURIBOR, confirms that the requirements contained in the Benchmark Regulation are
met. The EMMI is included in the ESMA’s register of administrators under Article 36 of the Benchmark
Regulation.

The Benchmark Regulation could adversely affect any Mortgage Pandbrieven referencing a Benchmark,
in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the relevant Benchmark are changed in order to comply
with the requirements of the Benchmark Regulation. Such changes could, among other things, have the
effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the
Benchmark. A Benchmark could also be discontinued as a result of the failure by a Benchmark
administrator to be authorised or registered (or, if based outside the European Union, to be deemed
equivalent or recognised or otherwise endorsed).

More broadly, any of the national or international reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny
of Benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the
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setting of a Benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. The euro risk free-
rate working group for the euro area has published a set of guiding principles and high level
recommendations for fallback provisions in, amongst other things, new euro denominated cash products
(including bonds) referencing EURIBOR. The guiding principles indicate, amongst other things, that
continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts (without robust fallback provisions) may
increase the risk to the euro area financial system. On 11 May 2021, the euro risk-free rate working group
published its recommendations on EURIBOR fallback trigger events and fallback rates.

Such factors may have (without limitation) the following effects on certain Benchmarks: (i) discouraging
market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to the Benchmark; (ii) triggering changes
in the rules or methodologies used in the Benchmark or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the
Benchmark. Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of national or
international reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the
value and/or return on any Mortgage Pandbrieven linked to, referencing or otherwise dependent (in whole
or in part) upon a Benchmark.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about potential
risks imposed by the Benchmark Regulation reforms in making any investment decision with respect to
Mortgage Pandbrieven linked to or referencing a Benchmark.

Following the implementation of any such reforms, the manner of administration of Benchmarks may
change, with the result that they may perform differently than in the past, or the Benchmark could be
eliminated entirely, or there could be other consequences that cannot be predicted. The elimination of
EURIBOR or any other Benchmark, changes in the manner of administration of any Benchmark, or any
other Benchmark Event could require or result in an adjustment to the interest calculation and related
provisions of the Terms and Conditions as well as the Agency Agreement (as further described in
Condition 2(m) (Benchmark replacement)), and could result in adverse consequences to holders of any
Mortgage Pandbrieven linked to such Benchmark (including Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven whose
interest rates are linked to EURIBOR or any other Benchmark that is or may become the subject of
reform). Furthermore, even prior to the implementation of any changes, uncertainty as to the nature of
successor or alternative reference rates and as to potential changes to a Benchmark may adversely affect
Mortgage Pandbrieven which reference such Benchmark including the return on the relevant Mortgage
Pandbrieven and the trading market for them.

If “Benchmark Replacement” is specified as applicable in the relevant Final Terms, the Terms and
Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven provide for certain fall-back arrangements in the event that a
Benchmark Event (as defined in the Terms and Conditions) occurs in respect of an Original Reference
Rate or other relevant reference rate and/or any page on which such benchmark may be published (or
any other successor service) becomes unavailable. Such fallback arrangements include the possibility
that the Rate of Interest could be set by reference to a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate (both as
defined in the Terms and Conditions), with the application of an adjustment spread (which could be
positive, negative or zero), and may include amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven to ensure the proper operation of the new Benchmark, all as determined by the Issuer (acting
in good faith and in consultation with an Independent Adviser) and as more fully described at Condition
2(m) (Benchmark replacement). However, the Issuer will not be required to implement a Successor Rate
or Alternative Rate or any adjustment spread or make any amendments to the Terms and Conditions of
any Mortgage Pandbrieven if and to the extent that, in its determination, the same could reasonably be
expected to result in the Lead Regulator and/or the Relevant Resolution Authority treating an Interest
Payment Date or Resettable Note Reset Date, as the case may be, as the effective maturity of the
Mortgage Pandbrieven, rather than the relevant Maturity Date, and in such case the Issuer may, subject
to certain conditions, be able to apply the provisions of Condition 2(m) (Benchmark replacement) on an
adjusted basis to avoid that outcome, all as more fully described under Condition 2(m)(iv) (Benchmark
Amendments). It is possible that the adoption of a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, including any
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adjustment spread, may result in any Mortgage Pandbrieven linked to or referencing an Original
Reference Rate performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than
they would if the Original Reference Rate were to continue to apply in its current form. There is also a
risk that the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as expected or intended at the relevant time.

Furthermore, in certain circumstances, the ultimate fallback for the purposes of calculation of the Rate
of Interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest
Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Mortgage
Pandbrieven based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page.

If “Benchmark Replacement” is specified to be “Not Applicable” in the relevant Final Terms, investors
should be aware that, if an Original Reference Rate were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the Rate
of Interest on Mortgage Pandbrieven which reference the Original Reference Rate will be determined for
the relevant period by the fallback provisions applicable to such Mortgage Pandbrieven. Depending on
the manner in which the Original Reference Rate is to be determined under the Terms and Conditions,
this may in certain circumstances result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate
Mortgage Pandbrieven as mentioned above. Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the
value or liquidity of, and return on, any Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven which reference the
Original Reference Rate.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of, and return on, any Mortgage
Pandbrieven to which the fall-back arrangements are applicable. Moreover, any of the above matters or
any other significant change to the setting or existence of any relevant reference rate could adversely
affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven or
could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under, the
Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to the
relevant Floating Rate Mortgage Pandbrieven.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the
potential risks imposed by the Benchmark Regulation or any of the international or national reforms and
the possible application of the benchmark replacement provisions of Mortgage Pandbrieven in making
any investment decision with respect to any Mortgage Pandbrieven referencing a Benchmark.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with:

(a) the audited consolidated accounts of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 20202 and
31 December 20213, including the reports of the statutory auditors in respect thereof;

(b) the unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of the Issuer for the half-year ended 30 June
2022, including the report of the statutory auditor in respect thereof * (the “2022 interim report”);

(©) the terms and conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven contained in the base prospectus dated
22 January 2021 (the “2021 Terms and Conditions” and the “2021 Base Prospectus”, respectively),
pages 71-129 (inclusive), prepared by the Issuer in connection with the Programme?;

(d) the terms and conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven contained in the base prospectus dated 18 February
2022 (the “February 2022 Terms and Conditions” and the “February 2022 Base Prospectus”,
respectively), pages 77-136 (inclusive), prepared by the Issuer in connection with the Programme?®;

each of which are incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus and have been prepared by the Issuer. Such
documents shall be incorporated by reference in and form part of this Base Prospectus, save that any statement
contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superseded for the purpose
of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier
statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not,
except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus. The documents incorporated by
reference are published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

Unless expressly provided otherwise, the content of websites or URLSs referred to in this Base Prospectus do not
form part of this Base Prospectus.

The tables below sets out the relevant page references for the (i) consolidated balance sheet statement / condensed
consolidated interim statement of financial position (ii) (condensed) consolidated (interim) statement of profit or
loss, (iii) (condensed) consolidated (interim) statement of comprehensive income, (iv) (condensed interim)
(consolidated) statement of changes in equity, (v) (condensed) consolidated (interim) cash flow statement, (vi)
the audit report on the (condensed) consolidated (interim) accounts / statutory auditor’s review report, and (vii)
notes to the (condensed) consolidated (interim) financial statements, as set out in each of the 2020 and 2021 annual
reports and the 2022 interim report of the Issuer.

The Issuer’s consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and as endorsed by the
European Union.

Information contained in the documents incorporated by reference other than information listed in the table below
does not form part of this Base Prospectus. The non-incorporated parts of such documents are not relevant for the
investors or are covered elsewhere in the Base Prospectus. For the avoidance of doubt, no other part of the 2021
Base Prospectus and the February 2022 Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus
(other the 2021 Terms and Conditions contained on pages 71-129 (inclusive) of the 2021 Base Prospectus and the

Available at: https://www.argenta.eu/content/dam/argenta-eu-site/financial-information/2020/argenta-spaarbank-ifrs-annual-
statements-2020..pdf.

Available at: https://www.argenta.be/content/dam/argenta/over-argenta/jaarverslagen/202 1/argenta-spaarbank-ifrs-annual-
statements-2021.pdf.

Auvailable at: https://www.argenta.cu/content/dam/argenta/over-argenta/jaarverslagen/2022/argenta-spaarbank-ifrs-half-year-
financial-statements-2022.pdf.

3 Available at: https://www.argenta.eu/content/dam/argenta-eu-site/financial-information/202 1/belgian-mortgage-pandbrieven-
programme/Consolidated Base Prospectus.pdf.

Available at: https://www.argenta.eu/content/dam/argenta-eu-site/financial-information/2022/belgian-mortgage-pandbrieven-
programme/Belgian_Mortgage Pandbrieven Programme Base%20prospectus%202022.pdf.
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February 2022 Terms and Conditions contained on pages 77-136 (inclusive) of the Feburary 2022 Base
Prospectus).

Consolidated financial Consolidated financial

statements 2020 statements 2021

(English version) (English version)
Audit report on the consolidated accounts pages 10-15 pages 148-155
Consolidated balance sheet statement pages 16-17 pages 10-11
Consolidated statement of profit or loss pages 18-19 pages 12-13
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income page 20 page 14
Consolidated statement of changes in equity page 21 page 15
Consolidated cash flow statement pages 22-24 pages 16-18
Notes to the consolidated financial statements pages 25-143 pages 19-145

Consolidated interim
financial statements 2022

(English version)

Condensed consolidated statement of financial position pages 9-10
Condensed consolidated interim statement of profit or loss page 11
Condensed consolidated interim statement of comprehensive income page 12
Condensed interim statement of changes in equity page 13
Condensed consolidated interim cash flow statement pages 14-15
Notes to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements pages 16-50
Statutory Auditor’s review report pages 52
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

This Base Prospectus includes certain financial metrics which the Issuer considers to constitute alternative
performance measures (“APMs”) and which are provided in addition to the conventional financial performance
measures defined or specified in the applicable financial reporting framework, the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Issuer believes that APMs provide investors with meaningful, additional
insight as to underlying performance of the Issuer. An investor should not consider such APMs as alternatives to
measures reflected in the Issuer’s financial information, which has been prepared in accordance with the IFRS. In
particular, an investor should not consider such measures as alternatives to profit after tax, operating profit or
other performance measures derived in accordance with IFRS or as an alternative to cash flow from operating
activities as a measure of the Issuer’s activity.

Please see below an overview of the APMs used in this Base Prospectus and their respective meanings. The text
in italics sets out a brief explanation as to why the Issuer uses that APM.

Capital gain/loss AFS The realised capital gains of (available for sale) debt securities.

It is a part of the income that is not considered to be a result of the normal
day-to-day activities.

Core net result The net result not taking into account Gains or losses on derecognition of
financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

1t is income resulting from the normal day-to-day activities.

Cost/Income or C/I [operating expenses of the period] / [financial and operational result of
the period]

Operating expenses include administration expenses, depreciation and
provisions. Bank levies are recognised in the first quarter (as required by
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 21). In order to make a
correct economic analysis, these are prorated and thus spread equally over
the different quarters.

Financial and operational result includes net interest income, dividend
income, net income from commissions and fees, realised gains and losses
on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value in the income
statement, gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities held for
trading, gains and losses from hedge accounting, gains and losses on de-
recognition of assets other than held for sale and other net operating
income.

This metric gives an indication of the cost evolution (operating expenses)
in relation to the evolution in income (financial and operational result)
during a specific period, which is normally a calendar year.

Cost/income or C/I excl. [operating expenses of the period - bank levies of the period] / [financial
bank levies and operational result of the period]

The numerator is adjusted for bank levies in order to provide a better
insight into the underlying business trends.

This metric gives an indication of the cost evolution (operating expenses,
excluding the bank levies due by the Issuer) in relation to the evolution in
income (financial and operational result) during a specific period, which
is normally a calendar year.
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Cost of Risk

Coverage Ratio

Customer assets under

management

Loan to deposit or LTD

Loan to value or LTV

Net interest income or NII

Net interest margin or
NIM

Non-Performing  Loans
(“NPLs”) ratio

Return on equity or RoE

[Collective (stage 1 and 2) and specific (stage 3) impairments] / Average
outstanding of total loan portfolio

This metric should be interpreted as an indication of the health of a loan
portfolio, indicating the proportion of the total portfolio that has been
impaired.

[Specific (stage 3) impairments] / [Total outstanding NPLs]

This metric gives an indication of the proportion of a Non-Performing
Loan that cannot be recovered. The lower the ratio, the higher the

recovered portion of the Non-Performing Loans.

The total market value of assets that the Issuer manages on behalf of
investors.

1t takes into account on-balance activities as well as off-balance activities
such as investment funds.

[loans and receivables] / [customer deposits and customer debt
certificates]

This measure indicates the percentage of loans that is granted with
customer funding.

Ratio of the outstanding loan amount to the indexed value of a purchased
asset.

1t is a key risk indicator, giving insight in possible losses after a default
of the borrower when the asset has to be sold.

[revenues generated by interest-bearing assets] - [cost of servicing
(interest-burdened) liabilities]

As almost all on-balance activities of the Issuer are interest rate driven,
NII gives the most important pillar of income.

[net interest income of the period] / [average total assets of the period]
Total assets are used as a proxy for the total interest-bearing assets.

The NIM gives the relative value of the NII and insight is given in the way
that NII is following the on-balance activities and —growth.

[Total outstanding NPLs] / [Total Outstanding Loans]

Non-performing Loans are defined as loans on which loan loss reserves
(impairments) are booked.

This metric gives an indication of the proportion of outstanding loans that
have payment arrears. The evolution gives insight in the credit quality

changes of the loan portfolio.

[net profit of the period (annualised)] / [equity at the beginning of the
period]

1t is a relative value of profitability and more specifically gives the return
for shareholders on their investment
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Total Capital Ratio or [common equity tier 1 capital + additional tier 1 instruments + tier 2
TCR instruments] / [total risk weighted assets]

This metric shows the ratio between the total regulatory own funds and
the total regulatory risk exposures.
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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

If at any time the Issuer shall be required to prepare a supplement in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus
Regulation, the Issuer will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Base Prospectus which,
once approved by the CSSF in its capacity as the competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation, in respect
of any subsequent issue of Mortgage Pandbrieven to be listed and admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange’s regulated market (including the Professional Segment thereof), shall constitute a prospectus
supplement in accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation.

The Issuer has given an undertaking to the Dealers that if, at any time during the duration of the Programme, there
is a significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to information contained in this Base
Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Mortgage Pandbrieven and whose inclusion in or
removal from this Base Prospectus is necessary for the purpose of allowing an investor to make an informed
assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer, and the
rights attaching to the Mortgage Pandbrieven, the Issuer shall prepare a supplement (in accordance with Article
23 of the Prospectus Regulation) to this Base Prospectus or publish a new prospectus for use in connection with
any subsequent offering of the Mortgage Pandbrieven and shall supply to each Dealer such number of copies of
such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.
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PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION

The Issuer may from time to time issue Mortgage Pandbrieven under this Programme. The aggregate outstanding
principal amount of Mortgage Pandbrieven in euro shall not at any time exceed EUR 7,500,000,000, subject to
increase as described herein. All Series of Mortgage Pandbrieven outstanding from time to time shall be included
in a list which can be consulted on the website of the NBB at www.nbb.be.

Holders of Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Programme (and the Other Creditors) will benefit from an
exclusive recourse against the assets which constitute the same Special Estate when liquidation proceedings are
initiated against the Issuer or when the Issuer is being resolved. The primary asset class of the Special Estate will
consist of Residential Mortgage Loans. The eligible residential mortgage loan pool is determined in line with the
Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations. The selection of the Residential Mortgage Loans out of that eligible
residential mortgage loan pool, that are registered as Cover Assets, is based on criteria such as (but not limited to)
loan-to-value, etc. in order to optimise the management of the Programme. The value of the Residential Mortgage
Loans calculated in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations (and including any collections in
respect thereof) will at all times represent at least 105 per cent. of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
the Mortgage Pandbrieven of all Series. Both the issued Mortgage Pandbrieven and the Residential Mortgage
Loans and any other Cover Assets will be registered in the Cover Register. Investor reports with details on, among
others, the composition of the Special Estate will be made available on the website of the Issuer (www.argenta.eu)
on a monthly basis.

Under the Programme, the Issuer may issue Mortgage Pandbrieven subject to the terms and conditions (and
relevant Final Terms) set out in this Base Prospectus, but the Issuer may also from time to time issue Mortgage
Pandbrieven subject to terms not contemplated by this Base Prospectus. In the latter case, the relevant terms or
form of terms of the Mortgage Pandbrieven are or, as the case may be, will be set out in a schedule to the
Programme Agreement.

L. Programme Agreements
1.1 Programme Agreement

The Programme Agreement is concluded between the Issuer, the Noteholders’ Representative and the
Cover Pool Monitor and is an over-arching agreement dated 30 September 2022, as amended and/or
supplemented and/or restated from time to time, containing certain common terms (the “Common
Terms”) which will apply to all Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Programme. These Common
Terms include the Post-Acceleration Priority of Payments, the Payment Default provision and cross-
acceleration, the Rules of Organisation of the Noteholders, the Noteholders’ Waiver, certain provisions
required by the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations, certain Issuer Covenants, and specify, for the
avoidance of doubt, that all the holders of Mortgage Pandbrieven will be represented by the Noteholders’
Representative and will benefit from an exclusive recourse against the assets which constitute the Special
Estate when liquidation proceedings are initiated against the Issuer or when the Issuer is being resolved.
The Programme Agreement further provides that a Programme Resolution will be required for any
amendment to the Common Terms, unless (i) the Noteholders’ Representative is of the opinion that such
amendment will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders or (ii) that the amendment
is of a formal, minor or technical nature or, in the opinion of the Noteholders’ Representative, to correct
a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of law. The Programme Agreement also
provides that no Residential Mortgage Loans can be deregistered from the Special Estate without prior
approval of the Cover Pool Monitor in case such deregistration would lead to a decrease of the ratio
between the value of the Cover Assets and the outstanding principal amount of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven. No such approval is required for the deregistration of Residential Mortgage Loans with a
value of zero nor for a substitution (i.e. a replacement of the Residential Mortgage Loan by another)
whereby the value of the Cover Assets does not decrease due to this substitution.

1.2 Noteholders’ Representative Agreement
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Pursuant to the Noteholders’ Representative Agreement, dated 30 September 2022, as amended and/or
supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the holders of the Mortgage Pandbrieven (and the Other
Creditors which have agreed thereto) will be represented by the Noteholders’ Representative which shall
have the powers and rights conferred on it by the applicable terms and conditions, the Rules of
Organisation of the Noteholders and the Noteholders’ Representative Agreement.

1.3 Agency Agreement

The Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under the Base Prospectus will also have the benefit of an Agency
Agreement (unless otherwise specified), dated 30 September 2022, as amended and/or supplemented
and/or restated from time to time, pursuant to which the relevant (principal) paying agent and calculation
agent shall be appointed.

14 Distribution Agreement

The Issuer and the Dealers have entered into a Distribution Agreement dated 30 September 2022, as
amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time. Under the terms of the Distribution
Agreement, the Issuer may agree with the Dealers that are party thereto to issue Mortgage Pandbrieven.
In that case, the Mortgage Pandbrieven will be issued pursuant to and subject to the terms of the
Distribution Agreement. The Issuer may also decide to issue Mortgage Pandbrieven which are not subject
to the Distribution Agreement.

1.5 Cover Pool Monitor Agreement

The Issuer has entered into a Cover Pool Monitor Agreement dated 30 September, as amended and/or
supplemented and/or restated from time to time, pursuant to which EY Bedrijfsrevisoren BV/Reviseurs
d'Entreprises SRL has been appointed as Cover Pool Monitor to perform the tasks assigned to the Cover
Pool Monitor in the Conditions, the Programme Documents and the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations.

1.6 Clearing Services Agreement

The Issuer has entered into a Clearing Services Agreement on 21 January 2021 with the NBB-SSS in its
capacity as operator of the Securities Settlement System, and the Paying Agent in relation to Mortgage
Pandbrieven which will be represented by a book-entry in the records of the Securities Settlement
System.

This Base Prospectus, the Programme Agreement, the Noteholders’ Representative Agreement, the Agency
Agreement, the Distribution Agreement, the Cover Pool Monitor Agreement, the Clearing Services Agreement
and any other agreement or document entered into from time to time under or in connection with the Programme
(as the same may be amended, supplemented, replaced and/or restated from time to time) and designated as a
programme document constitute together the programme documents (the “Programme Documents™). Unless
otherwise specified, the Programme Documents will be governed by Belgian law.

Pursuant to the terms of the Programme Documents, the Issuer shall be entitled to vary, approve or terminate the
appointment of any agent or party thereto and/or appoint any additional or substitute agent or party (including
(without limitation) in relation to the issue of any Mortgage Pandbrieven). The Issuer may also enter into any
other agreement or document as it may from time to time deem necessary or appropriate in relation to the
Programme or issuance of any Mortgage Pandbrieven. Each of the Programme Documents shall further contain
specific provisions for the amendment, supplement, replacement and/or restatement of such agreement and a
reference to any Programme Document shall be deemed a reference to such agreement as the same may from time
be time be amended, supplemented, replaced and/or restated.
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OVERVIEW OF THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK FOR BELGIAN COVERED BONDS AND BELGIAN
PANDBRIEVEN

The following is a brief overview of certain features of the legal framework governing the issuance of Belgian
covered bonds / European covered bonds, as applicable at the date of this Base Prospectus. This overview is not,
and does not purport to be, a complete description addressing all aspects of the Belgian legal framework pertaining
to Belgian covered bonds / European covered bonds, and is not intended to constitute legal advice or a
comprehensive description of all legal aspects or consequences associated with or resulting from acquiring,
holding, redeeming and/or disposing of the Mortgage Pandbrieven. Prospective investors should consult their own
legal advisors concerning a complete analysis of the relevant legal framework and the detailed and overall legal
consequences of acquiring, holding, redeeming and/or disposing of the Mortgage Pandbrieven, under any
applicable laws.

A dedicated regulatory regime for the issuance of covered bonds by Belgian credit institutions was adopted in
August 2012. The Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations (as defined below) contemplate a full on balance structure
with a right of dual recourse for noteholders (an unsecured claim against the general estate of the issuing credit
institution and, in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against the issuing credit institution or the issuing
credit institution is being resolved, an exclusive recourse against the assets which constitute the special estate
(together with certain other creditors)).

At the end of 2019, the European Parliament and the Council finalised the legislative package on covered bond
reforms made up of a new covered bond directive (Directive (EU) 2019/2162) and a new regulation (Regulation
(EU) 2019/2160), which entered into force on 7 January 2020 with the deadline for application of 8 July 2022
(both texts have relevance for the EEA and are to be implemented in due course in other countries in the EEA).

On 26 November 2021, the Belgian legislator adopted a new law amending the Belgian Banking Law to, inter
alia, transpose Directive (EU) 2019/2162 into Belgian law (the “Law of 26 November 2021”) and on
15 February 2022 the Royal Decree of 27 January 2022 amending the Covered Bonds Royal Decree, the Cover
Pool Administrator Royal Decree, the Royal Decree of 12 November 2012 concerning the undertakings for
collective investment satisfying the conditions of Directive 2009/65/EC and the Royal Decree of 25 February
2017 concerning certain public alternative investment funds and their managemement companies, and containing
diverse provisions (the “Royal Decree of 27 January 2022”’) was published in the Belgian Official Gazette (the
Law of 26 November 2021 and the Royal Decree of 27 January 2022 herein jointly being referred to as the “New
Belgian Covered Bonds Legislation”). As foreseen in Directive (EU) 2019/2162 and as is the case for Regulation
(EU) 2019/2160, the main elements of New Belgian Covered Bonds Legislation have entered into effect on 8 July
2022. The below description of the legal framework governing the issuance of Belgian covered bonds / European
covered bonds takes into account the new rules and amendments that have been introduced by the New Belgian
Covered Bonds Legislation. In the remainder of this section (as is the case for the entire Base Prospectus), the
legal terms “Belgian covered bonds” and “European covered bonds” are used interchangeably, as are the legal
terms “Belgian pandbrieven” and “European covered bonds (premium)”.

1 Legislative framework
1.1 Overview

The legislative framework for Belgian covered bonds is established by the following laws, decrees and
regulations (as the same may be amended, supplemented, replaced and/or restated from time to time, the
“Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations™):

. Articles 79 to 84/1 of Annex III to the Law of 25 April 2014 on the status and supervision of
credit institutions and stockbroking firms (Wet van 25 april 2014 op het statuut van en het
toezicht op kredietinstellingen en beursvennootschappen/Loi du 25 avril 2014 relative au statut
et au contréle des établissements de crédit et des sociétés de bourse), as amended from time to
time, including by the Law of 26 November 2021 (the “Belgian Banking Law”);
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. The Law of 3 August 2012 on various measures to facilitate the mobilisation of claims in the
financial sector (Wet van 3 augustus 2012 betreffende diverse maatregelen ter
vergemakkelijking van de mobilisering van schuldvorderingen in de financiéle sector/Loi du 3
aotit 2012 relative a des mesures diverses pour faciliter la mobilisation de créances dans le
secteur financier), as amended from time to time (the “Mobilisation Law”);

. The Royal Decree of 11 October 2012 on the issuance of Belgian covered bonds by Belgian
credit institutions (Koninklijk Besluit van 11 oktober 2012 betreffende de uitgifte van Belgische
covered bonds door kredietinstellingen naar Belgisch recht/Arrété Royal du 11 octobre 2012
relatif a I’émission de covered bonds belges par des établissements de crédit de droit belge), as
amended from time to time, including by the Royal Decree of 27 January 2022 (the “Covered
Bonds Royal Decree”).

. The Royal Decree of 11 October 2012 on the cover pool administrator in the context of the
issuance of Belgian covered bonds by a Belgian credit institution (Koninklijk Besluit van 11
oktober 2012 betreffende de portefeuillebeheerder in het kader van de uitgifte van Belgische
covered bonds door een kredietinstelling naar Belgisch recht/Arrété Royal du 11 octobre 2012
relatif au gestionnaire de portefeuille dans le cadre de l'émission de covered bonds belges par
un établissement de crédit de droit belge), as amended from time to time, including by the Royal
Decree of 27 January 2022 (the “Cover Pool Administrator Royal Decree”);

. NBB Circular NBB_2022 15 concerning the practical modalities for the application of the Law
of 25 April 2014 on the status and supervision of credit institutions and stockbroking firms, as
amended by the Law of 26 November 2021 for the purpose of implementing Directive
2019/2162 dated 14 June 2022 (Circulaire van 14 juni 2022 over de praktische regels voor de
toepassing van de wet van 25 april 2014 op het statuut van en het toezicht op kredietinstellingen
en beursvennootschappen zoals gewijzigd door de wet van 26 november 2021 met het oog op
de omzetting van Richtlijn 2019/2162 betreffende de uitgifte van en het overheidstoezicht op
gedekte obligaties | Circulaire du 14 juin 2022 relative aux modalités pratiques d'application
de la loi du 25 avril 2014 relative au statut et au controle des établissements de crédit et des
societés de bourse telle que modifiée par la loi du 26 novembre 2021 en vue d'assurer la
transposition de la Directive 2019/2162 concernant ['émission d'obligations garanties et la
surveillance publique des obligations garanties) (the “NBB Covered Bonds Circular”); and

. NBB Circular NBB_2022 16 addressed to the cover pool monitors of Belgian credit institutions
issuing Belgian covered bonds dated 14 June 2022 (Circulaire van 14 juni 2022 aan de
portefeuillesurveillanten bij kredietinstellingen naar Belgisch recht die Belgische covered
bonds uitgeven / Circulaire du 14 juin 2022 aux surveillants de portefeuille aupreés
d'etablissements de crédit de droit belge qui émettent des covered bonds belges) (the “NBB
Cover Pool Monitor Circular”).

Belgian covered bonds and Belgian pandbrieven

Pursuant to Article 1, 1° of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law, covered bonds are debt instruments
which:

(a) are issued by a credit institution governed by Belgian law which is authorised to issue covered
bonds and included in the list referred to in Article 82, first indent of the Belgian Banking Law;

(b) are included itself or, if issued under a programme, the programme and each debt instrument

issued thereunder is included in the list of Belgian covered bonds referred to in Article 82,
second indent of the Belgian Banking Law; and
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(©) are covered by cover assets (i.e., the assets of which the special estate is composed), as further
defined below.

Article 6 of the Belgian Banking Law and Article 1, 3° of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law provide
that Belgian covered bonds that are covered by cover assets that meet the requirements set forth under
Article 2, § 1 of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law and which are included as such in the list referred
to under article 82, second indent of the Belgian Banking Law may be referred to as Belgian pandbrieven
(Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage belges) and as European covered bonds (premium) (Europese
gedekte obligatie (premium)/obligation garantie européenne (de qualité supérieure)). In order to meet
the requirements of Article 2, § 1 of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law, the composition and valuation
of the cover assets must be capable of guaranteeing that the Belgian covered bond meets the requirements
for obtaining a favourable weighting, as set out in Article 129 of CRR. Authorisation is granted to the
King to develop or clarify the criteria that can be used for determining whether a Belgian covered bond
meets these requirements.

The covered bonds issued under the Programme are referred to as Mortgage Pandbrieven as they comply
with the relevant requirements for Belgian pandbrieven (Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage belges) /
European covered bonds (premium) (Europese gedekte obligatie (premium)/obligation garantie
européenne (de qualité supérieure)).

Dual authorisation

A Belgian credit institution must be authorised by the Supervisory Authority and by the NBB, prior to
being entitled to issue Belgian covered bonds. This authorisation comprises:

(a) a general authorisation from the Supervisory Authority in relation to the organisational capacity
of the credit institution to issue Belgian covered bonds and to ensure appropriate follow-up (the
“General Authorisation”); and

(b) a special authorisation from the NBB for each issue programme or particular issuance (if not
issued under a programme), to ascertain whether such programme or issuance meets relevant
legal requirements (the “Specific Authorisation”).

On its website (www.nbb.be), the NBB will publish:
(a) a list of credit institutions that are authorised to issue Belgian covered bonds; and

(b) a list that specifies, per credit institution, the programmes (and the issuances thereunder) or
issuances that have been authorised.

General AuthorisationTo obtain a General Authorisation, the credit institution must, among other
things, provide to the Supervisory Authority (i) its programme of operations wherein the issue of Belgian
covered bonds is described, as well as (ii) information on its financial position, long-term strategy, tasks
and responsibilities in relation to the issuance of Belgian covered bonds, risk management policy, internal
audit, decision-making processes and reporting processes in relation to the issuance of Belgian covered
bonds and IT systems. The information on the credit institution’s financial position must demonstrate
that the interests of its creditors other than the noteholders will be protected. The credit institution’s
statutory auditor must report to the Supervisory Authority on the credit institution’s organisational
capacity to issue Belgian covered bonds prior to and after the issuance of Belgian covered bonds. The
NBB Covered Bonds Circular provides a list of information that Belgian credit institutions must provide
to the Supervisory Authority when applying for a General Authorisation.

The Supervisory Authority will only grant the General Authorisation to the extent that, on the basis of
the information referred to above, it considers:
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(a) that the administrative and accounting organisation of the issuing credit institution allows it to
operate in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations, in particular as regards the
requirement to segregate the cover assets from its general estate;

(b) that the financial position of the issuing credit institution, specifically with respect to its
solvency, is sufficient to safeguard the interests of its creditors, other than the noteholders; and

() that the credit institution’s senior manager who is responsible for the issue of the Belgian
covered bonds and related follow-up has sufficient expertise and availability to adequately
perform its duties and that the credit institution allocates the resources necessary to ensure that
these covered bonds are issued and managed properly.

Specific Authorisation

To obtain a Specific Authorisation, the credit institution must, among other things, provide the NBB with
information on the impact of the issuance on the liquidity position of the issuing credit institution, the
quality of the cover assets, the extent to which the maturity dates of the Belgian covered bonds coincide
with those of the cover assets and the identification of the proposed cover pool monitor
(portefeuillesurveillant/surveillant de portefeuille) and the existence of any extendable maturity
structures. The credit institution will also have to demonstrate that it continues to comply with the
requirements of the General Authorisation and the cover pool monitor (portefeuillesurveillant/surveillant
de portefeuille) will need to report to the NBB (see Section 1.2.6) on the compliance by the issuing credit
institution with the requirements of the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations prior to and after the
issuance of Belgian covered bonds.

The NBB will only grant the Specific Authorisation to the extent that, on the basis of the above
information, it is satisfied that the following conditions have been met:

(a) the issuing credit institution has obtained a General Authorisation;

(b) the cover assets meet the requirements of the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations (see Section
1.2.5.2); and

(c) the credit institution has an appropriate organisation to ensure compliance with the legal and

regulatory provisions regarding the issuance of Belgian covered bonds.
If a credit institution issues covered bonds in the framework of an issue programme, a Specific
Authorisation only has to be obtained for the programme as such and not for each individual issue under
that programme. However, credit institutions issuing covered bonds under an issue programme must
regularly provide the NBB with an overview of all issues of covered bonds carried out under the
programme and inform the NBB if a new issue takes place.
Rules applicable to the special estate
Composition of the special estate
The estate of a credit institution that issues Belgian covered bonds is by operation of law split into a
general estate and into specified special estates. There will be one special estate per authorised issue

programme or stand-alone issuance of covered bonds, as the case may be.

The credit institution that issues Belgian covered bonds must maintain a register in which all Belgian
covered bonds and the cover assets are registered (the “cover register”).

The special estate includes by operation of law:
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(a) all assets registered in the cover register;

(b) the assets (cash or financial instruments) received as collateral in the context of derivative
contracts registered as cover assets;

(c) all security interests and sureties, guarantees or privileges under whichever form that have been
granted in relation to cover assets as well as rights under insurance policies and other contracts
in relation to the cover assets or the management of the special estate;

(d) all sums that the relevant credit institution holds as a result of the collection (reimbursement or
payment) of the cover assets or of the enforcement of the rights mentioned above for the account
of the special estate or otherwise held for the special estate; and

(e) the mandatory reserves with the NBB to the extent that these are linked to the special estate,
together, the “cover assets”.

Pursuant to a revindication mechanism provided by Article 3, §2, second indent of Annex III to the
Belgian Banking Law, the rights of the special estate in respect of cash that cannot be identified in the
general estate will be transferred to unencumbered assets of the general estate that will be selected by
taking into account criteria specified in the terms and conditions of the relevant issuance (hereinafter
referred to as the “issue conditions”).

General principles concerning the special estate and the cover assets

The receivables that are eligible to be registered as cover assets are the following, provided that they
meet the requirements set out under Section 1.2.5.1 below:

(a) mortgage receivables secured by a mortgage on residential real estate located in the European
Economic Area (the “EEA”);

(b) mortgage receivables secured by a mortgage on commercial real estate located in the EEA,;

(c) receivables on or guaranteed by (i) central governments or central banks of member states of
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), (ii) regional or local
authorities or public sector entities of these member states or (iii) multilateral development
banks or international organisations;

(d) receivables on credit institutions qualifying for credit quality step 1 or 2, as determined in
accordance with Article 136 CRR, which take the form of any of the following:

(a) short-term receivables with a maturity of 3 months or less, or short-term deposits with
credit institutions with an original maturity of not more than 100 days; and

(b) derivative contracts that comply with Article 1/3 of Annex III to the Belgian Banking
Law.

Among the cover assets, a distinction is made between the primary assets, which may be any of the cover
assets categories listed under (a), (b) or (c¢) above and make up the largest part of the special estate (the
“primary asset class”), and the secondary assets, which include all cover assets that do not belong to
the category of the primary asset class (the “secondary assets”).

The cover assets must at all times and until the maturity date of the relevant Belgian covered bonds
provide sufficient cover to (i) reimburse the principal and interests in respect of the relevant Belgian
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covered bonds; (ii) satisfy the obligations to any creditors that are specifically mentioned or can be
identified based on the criteria set out in the relevant issue conditions; and (iii) to make payments related
to the maintenance and management of the cover assets and the relevant Belgian covered bonds,
including payments for winding down the issue programme of the relevant Belgian covered bonds. In
addition, there must be an excess (overschot/excédent) of cover assets, valued in accordance with the
criteria of Article 81 § 4, 1°, b), of the Belgian Banking Law, such that the value of the principal of these
assets exceeds the outstanding principal amount of the relevant Belgian covered bonds. The minimal
coverage requirements are set forth in the Covered Bonds Royal Decree and are discussed under Section
1.2.5.2 below.

Issuing credit institutions must take the necessary measures to ensure that the cover assets for each issue
of Belgian covered bonds or for each issue programme are at all times identifiable.

Allocation of the special estate

Each special estate is exclusively allocated to satisfy the obligations to the relevant noteholders and any
other creditors that are specifically mentioned or can be identified based on the criteria set out in the
relevant issue conditions. The latter category of creditors will generally include the various parties that
are involved in the structuring and the management of the special estate and relevant Belgian covered
bonds. These may include, inter alia, the noteholders’ representative, the cover pool administrator, the
cover pool monitor and relevant derivative contract counterparties.

Creditors of the issuing credit institution (other than noteholders and creditors that are or can be identified
in the issue conditions or the agreements that are entered into in the framework of the relevant issue
programme or issuance of Belgian covered bonds) may not exercise any rights against or attach any
assets of the special estate.

Management of the special estate

The issuing credit institution is responsible for managing the special estate until the earlier of the
initiation of liquidation proceedings against it or the appointment of a cover pool administrator (in
accordance with Section 1.2.7.1 below). The rights and obligations with regard to the transactions that
take place between the issuing credit institution and the special estate are recorded in writing as if the
special estate were a separate legal entity. Such management includes removing certain cover assets from
the special estate and replacing them with other cover assets to ensure compliance with the applicable
requirements.

Rules applicable to the cover assets

Prior to the issuance of Belgian covered bonds, the issuing credit institution must take all reasonable
measures to ensure that it meets the following requirements, and the cover pool monitor must report to
the NBB on the credit institution’s compliance with such requirements (see Section 1.2.6):

(a) as regards the cover assets, (i) the qualitative requirements and limits (see Section 1.2.5.1), (ii)
the quantitative requirements, (iii) the requirements regarding their valuation, (iv) the
requirements regarding the coverage level, (v) the excess cover (overschot/excédent), (vi) the
available liquidity, (vii) the requirements for the purchase of assets to cover an issue of covered
bonds, and (viii) the requirements for derivative contracts, each as set out in the Belgian Covered
Bonds Regulations; and

(b) as regards the segregation of cover assets (afzondering/segregation), investor information,

extendable maturity structures and record keeping (in particular the requirements of proper
registration of the cover assets) (see Section 1.2.5.5).
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Furthermore, the credit institution must establish risk management policies and carry out stress tests at
least every three months to ensure that the liquidity generated by the cover assets is sufficient to meet the
applicable tests and/or, as the case may be, have other assets that can be sold or mobilised quickly in
order to provide relevant coverage. These stress tests must take into account at least the following
scenarios:

(a) sudden and unexpected interest rate and exchange rate movements;
(b) different levels of prepayment of the cover assets; and
() a significant deterioration of the credit quality of the cover assets.

If it appears from the abovementioned stress tests that the cover assets are no longer sufficient, the issuing
credit institution must take the necessary measures and/or at least ensure that it has sufficient other assets
that it can pledge if such scenarios would actually occur.

The issuing credit institution, its statutory auditor and the cover pool monitor will have ongoing
obligations to provide to the NBB periodic information on compliance with the Belgian Covered Bonds
Regulations.

1.2.5.1 Types of eligible assetsThe special estate may be composed of assets falling within any of the
following four categories: residential mortgage loans (category 1), commercial mortgage loans
(category 2), public sector exposures (category 3) and exposures to credit institutions, including
derivative contracts (category 4).

(a) Mortgage Loans

The special estate may include residential mortgage loans or commercial mortgage
loans:

(1) Residential mortgage loans (category 1): mortgage receivables secured by a
mortgage on residential real estate located in the EEA, up to an amount equal
to the lower of (i) the principal amount of the relevant mortgage receivables
and (ii) 80 per cent. of the value of the encumbered residential real estate.
Mortgage receivables relating to residential real estate under construction or
in development can only be included in the special estate if they do not
represent more than 15 per cent. of all the residential mortgage loans included
in the special estate.

(i1) Commercial mortgage loans (category 2): mortgage receivables secured by a
mortgage on commercial real estate located in the EEA, up to an amount equal
to the lower of (i) the principal amount of the relevant receivables that is
secured by one or more mortgages and (ii) 60 per cent. of the value of the
encumbered commercial real estate. Mortgage receivables relating to
commercial real estate under construction or in development may not be
included in the special estate.

In order to qualify as residential and commercial mortgage loans, the credit institution
must be the beneficiary of a first-ranking mortgage. In addition, the relevant property
securing the residential or commercial mortgage loan must be valued by a valuer within
the meaning of Article 208(3)(b) of the CRR and in accordance with the requirements
of Article 229(1) of the CRR. At the time of inclusion in the special estate, the issuing
credit institution must take into account the current valuation of the property, which
may be at or below market value. The issuing credit institution must furthermore
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comply with the requirements of Article 208(5) of the CRR to have procedures in place
to monitor that the relevant property is adequately insured against the risk of damage.

Residential real estate is real property that is destined for housing or for leasing
(huur/location) housing by the owner.

Commercial real estate is real property that is primarily used for industrial or
commercial purposes or for other professional activities, such as offices or other
premises intended for the exercise of a commercial or services activity.

Pursuant to the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations, a residential mortgage loan which
is partly secured by a mortgage mandate may be included in the special estate. Subject
to certain valuation rules (see Section 1.2.5.3), (a portion of) the amounts secured by
the mortgage mandate may be taken into account for purposes of the Cover Tests.

Investors should be aware that such mortgage mandate will only provide a security
interest giving preference over other creditors once the mandate has been exercised
and a mortgage has been registered. Prior to such exercise, third parties acting in good
faith may register prior-ranking mortgages.

Once a mandate is exercised by the relevant agents (mandaathouders/titulaires de
mandat) in accordance with the terms of the mandate, the ensuing mortgage will rank
at the highest level available at the time of registration of such mortgage. To the extent
that the mortgage secures any other loans made by Argenta Spaarbank to the same
grantor, the proceeds of any enforcement will in principle be shared pro rata among
the various loans (including any such loans that are still with the general estate) (see
also Condition 7(c)).

Public sector exposures (category 3): receivables on or guaranteed by (i) central
governments or central banks of member states of the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (OECD), (ii) regional or local authorities or public sector
entities of these member states or (iii) multilateral development banks or international
organisations that qualify for a 0 per cent. risk weighting as set out in Article 117 and
118 CRR.

If the counterparties mentioned under (i) and (ii) above are not part of the European
Union (EU) or the European System of Central Banks (ESCB), respectively, such
receivables will only be eligible to qualify as cover assets if:

(1) for the counterparties mentioned under (i), such receivables qualify for credit
quality step 1 or 2, as determined in accordance with the criteria adopted
pursuant to Article 136 CRR;

(i1) for the counterparties mentioned under (ii), such receivables have the same
risk weighting as exposures to institutions or central governments and central
banks in accordance with Articles 115 and 166 CRR (respectively) and
qualify for credit quality step 1 or 2, as determined in accordance with the
criteria adopted pursuant to Article 136 CRR.

The amount represented by receivables owed by the abovementioned counterparties

that qualify for credit quality step 2 may not exceed 20 per cent. of the nominal amount
of the relevant covered bonds in issue.
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Exposures to credit institutions (category 4): claims against credit institutions that have
the status of credit institution under the law of a member state of the OECD and which
qualify for credit quality step 1 or 2, as determined in accordance with the criteria
adopted pursuant to Article 136 CRR, when such receivables qualify as either of the
following:

(1) short-term receivables with a maturity of three months or less, or short-term
deposits with an original maturity of not more than 100 days, if such deposits
are used to comply with the liquidity requirement applicable to the special
estate; or

(1) derivative contracts.

In order to qualify as cover assets, derivative contracts must meet the following
requirements:

(1) the derivative contracts are only intended to hedge interest rate risk, currency
exchange risk linked to the cover assets or the Belgian covered bonds and
their volume is adjusted in the case of a reduction in the hedged risk and they
are removed when the hedged risk ceases to exist;

(i1) the derivative contracts are not subject to early termination (close-out) in case
liquidation or resolution proceedings are opened against the issuing credit
institution, irrespective of whether such early termination occurs
automatically or at the initiative of the counterparty;

(ii1) the derivative contracts may not be covered by a novation or netting
agreement to which the issuing credit institution is a party;

(iv) the derivative contracts must be concluded with credit institutions that are not
included in the scope of the issuing credit institution’s prudential
consolidation, are governed by the laws of an OECD member state and which
are at least eligible for credit quality step 2 as determined in accordance with
Article 136 CRR; and

v) the net exposures of the counterparties under these derivative contracts must
be secured by values (waarden/valeurs) or financial instruments issued or
guaranteed by a central authority which is governed by the laws of an OECD
member state and is eligible for credit quality step 1 as determined in
accordance with Article 136 CRR.

The issuing credit institutions that decide to include derivative contracts in the special
estate must ensure that they at all times have the requisite documentation (which is
regularly updated) to demonstrate compliance with the requirements of Article 1/3 of
Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law and with the requirements of Section 6.4 of
IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments). This documentation must also include an external and
independent legal advice confirming the validity and enforceability of the derivative
contracts in the relevant jurisdictions is confirmed and which covers at least the law
chosen by the parties (lex contractus) and the law applicable to liquidiation
proceedings (lex fori concursus) that may affect the counterparty.

Derivative contracts registered in the cover register are part of the special estate.
Collateral posted with the issuer under such derivative contracts is part of the special
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estate by operation of law and can only be used for obligations in relation to the special
estate in accordance with the issue conditions and the relevant derivative contract.

Amounts paid as reimbursement, collection or payment of interest on claims or assets included
in the special estate as part of the relevant categories may be taken into account as cover assets
that are a part of their respective category.

Cover Tests

At the time of the issuance and as long as any Belgian covered bonds remain outstanding, the
issuing credit institution must, in respect of each special estate, meet the following cover tests:

(a) the value of the primary assets must represent at least 85 per cent. of the principal
amount of the relevant Belgian covered bonds outstanding (the “85 per cent. Asset
Coverage Test”). As a result, three general types of Belgian covered bond
programmes or issues can be distinguished on the basis of their primary asset class: (i)
residential mortgage loans; (ii) commercial mortgage loans; or (iii) public sector
exposures.

(b) the value of the cover assets must provide an excess cover such that their value exceeds
the outstanding principal amount of the Belgian covered bonds. Per special estate, the
value of the cover assets must represent at least 105 per cent. of the outstanding
principal amount of the issued Belgian covered bonds (the “Over-Collateralisation
Test”), provided that the principal amounts of the cover assets have not been taken into
account elsewhere to meet the requirements of the Amortisation Test (as defined
below) with regard to payment obligations other than those related to the principal
amount of the Belgian covered bonds. As a result, the special estate must at all times
be over-collateralised by at least 5 per cent.; and

(c) the sum of the principal, interests and all other income generated by the cover assets
(including the income generated by derivative contracts and available liquidity
resources) must, during the entire duration of the relevant Belgian covered bonds,
provide a sufficient cover for (i) the payment of principal and interest on the Belgian
covered bonds and (ii) the costs related to the maintenance and management of the
covered bonds issue programme, including the costs for winding down such
programme (the “Amortisation Test”),

all three together, the “Cover Tests”.
Cover assets valuation methodology

For the purpose of the 85 per cent. Asset Coverage Test and the Over-Collateralisation Test, the
value of the over assets of each category is determined as follows:

(a) Residential mortgage loans: the lesser of (i) the outstanding loan amount, (ii) 80 per
cent. of the market value of the residential real estate and (iii) the value of the mortgage.

If the residential real estate over which a mortgage has been created is located in
Belgium, the value of the mortgage in respect of a residential mortgage loan will be
equal to the amount of the mortgage registration in first rank, plus any amounts of
mortgages in subsequent ranks (provided that there are no other creditors with prior-
ranking mortgage rights (zonder dat andere schuldeisers zich in een tussenpositie
bevinden/sans interposition d’autres créanciers)).
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If the mortgage is supplemented with a mortgage mandate, the value of the mortgage
will be equal to the lesser of (a) the sum of the amount of the mortgage registration in
first rank, plus any amounts of mortgages in sequentially lower ranks (provided that
there are no other creditors with prior-ranking mortgage rights (zonder dat andere
schuldeisers zich in een tussenpositie bevinden/sans interposition d’autres
créanciers)) and the amount for which a mortgage mandate has been granted and
(b) the amount of the mortgage registration in first rank, plus the amount of any
mortgage in sequentially lower ranks (provided that there are no other creditors with
prior-ranking mortgage rights (zonder dat andere schuldeisers zich in een tussenpositie
bevinden/sans interposition d’autres créanciers)), divided by 0.6.

If the residential real estate over which the mortgage has been created is located outside
Belgium, the value of the mortgage in respect of such residential mortgage loan will
be equal to the amount of the mortgage registration in first rank, plus the amount of
any mortgages in sequentially lower ranks (provided that there are no other creditors
with prior-ranking mortgage rights (zonder dat andere schuldeisers zich in een
tussenpositie bevinden/sans interposition d autres créanciers)). Mortgage mandates
are not taken into consideration.

Residential real estate may only be taken into consideration for purposes of the
valuation calculations of the cover assets if the requirements set out in Article 208 of
the CRR have been complied with.

The 80 per cent. valuation limit mentioned above must be calculated for each mortgage
loan separately and applies for the total duration of the loan.

The value of the real estate is to be monitored regularly and at least annually for
residential real estate.

Commercial mortgage loans: the lesser of (i) the outstanding loan amount, (ii) 60 per
cent. of the sales value of the commercial real estate and (iii) the value of the mortgage.

The value of the mortgage in respect of a commercial mortgage loan equals the amount
of the mortgage registration in first rank, accrued (if applicable) with the amount of the
mortgages in sequentially lower ranks (provided that there are no other creditors with
prior-ranking mortgage rights (zonder dat andere schuldeisers zich in een tussenpositie
bevinden/sans interposition d’autres créanciers)). Mortgage mandates are not taken
into consideration.

Commercial real estate may only be taken into consideration for purposes of the
valuation calculations if the requirements of Article 208 CRR are satisfied. The value

of the commercial real estate is to be monitored regularly and at least annually.

The 60 per cent. valuation limit mentioned above must be calculated for each mortgage
loan separately and applies for the total duration of the loan.

Public sector exposures: the value of such exposures is equal to the book value in the
books of the issuing credit institution (or limited to the amount guaranteed by the

relevant entities).

Exposure to credit institutions:
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(1) Derivative contracts: the value of derivatives contracts is determined on the
basis of the amount that is due upon the termination of such agreement (the
“close-out amount”);

(ii) Other exposures to credit institutions: the value of such exposures is equal to
the book value in the books of the issuing credit institution.

Moreover, the rules and methodologies for the purposes of valuing the real estate will
have to comply with the specific rules set out in Article 5 of the NBB Covered Bonds
Circular. This Article 5 specifies that for the purpose of the Amortisation Test, the
principal amount of a mortgage receivable will be restricted to the limit applicable to
such cover assets as calculated at the time when the Cover Tests are performed. Article
5 of the NBB Covered Bonds Circular further adds that the valuation of real estate
must be carried out in accordance with the requirements set out in Circular
NBB 2021 18 implementing the European Banking Authority (EBA) Guidelines
EBA/GL/2020/06, and in particular in accordance with section 7 of the EBA
Guidelines.

For the purpose of the Cover Tests, no assets for which a default has occurred in accordance
with Article 178 CRR may be registered in the special estate. In any event, the value of an asset
for which a default has occurred in accordance with Article 178 CRR, is zero. The value of an
asset that is 30 days (or more) past due (excluding any assets in default in accordance with
Article 178 CRR) will only be taken into account for 50 per cent. of the value as set out above.

Liquidity Buffer

Issuing credit institutions must at all times be able to meet their payment obligations related to
their issued covered bonds. To this end, issuing credit institutions must put in place mechanisms
to ensure that they have the necessary liquidity at their disposal at all times.

At the time of the issuance and for so long as any Belgian covered bonds remain outstanding,
each special estate must contain sufficient liquid and available cover assets to form a liquidity
buffer in order to enable the issuing credit institution to at all times cover (i) the Net Liquidity
Outflow (as defined below) of the relevant issue or issue programme, as well as (ii) the
maximum cumulative Net Liquidity Outflow calculated over a six month period (the Liquidity
Buffer”).

The net liquidity outflow (nettoliquiditeitsuitstroment/les sorties nettes de trésorerie) includes
all outgoing payment flows due on a certain day, including repayments of principal and interest
and payments under derivative contracts and the costs of maintaining and managing the issue
or issue programme of Belgian covered bonds, after deduction of all incoming payment flows
due on the same day for receivables related to the cover assets (the “Net Liquidity Outflow”).

If the issue conditions of the relevant covered bonds provide for an extendable maturity structure
(verlengbare-looptijdstructuur/structure d'échéance prorogeable), the calculation of the
principal amount can be based on the maximum maturity specified in the issue conditions.

The Liquidity Buffer mentioned above is comprised of:

(1) cover assets that qualify as ‘level 1 assets’ in accordance with the requirements of
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 of 10 October 2014 to supplement
Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and the Council with regard
to liquidity coverage requirement for credit institutions, are valued in accordance with
that regulation and which have not been issued by the issuing credit institution, its
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parent (unless its parent is a public law entity that is not a credit institution), its
subsidiary or any other subsidiary of its parent; and

(1) short-term receivables or short-term deposits that qualify as category 4 cover assets.

When calculating the Net Liquidity Outflows and Liquidity Buffer, the principal and income of
cover assets for which a default has occurred in accordance with Article 178 CRR shall count
for zero. The principal and income of cover assets that are 30 days (or more) past due (excluding
any cover assets in default in accordance with Article 178 CRR) will only be taken into account
for 50 per cent.

If an issuing credit institution fails to meet the requirements of Article 7, § 1 of the Covered
Bonds Royal Decree, it will have 14 days to take the necessary redress measures to meet the
relevant requirements. As long as an issuing credit institution has not taken the necessary redress
measures, it is not allowed to issue new Belgian covered bonds (under a programme or on a
stand-alone basis).

The Cover Register

As from their registration in the cover register, the assets, including the relevant derivative
contracts, that are part of the relevant special estate, constitute the cover assets. Such registration
and allocation to the cover assets is valid and enforceable against third parties.

The amounts that are paid by way of repayment, recovery or payment of interests on claims or
assets included in the special estate, are deemed to be registered as cover assets to the extent
that the relevant claim or asset is registered, until the point at which such amounts are used for
other purposes.

Upon their removal from the cover register, the assets or the derivative contracts will no longer
constitute cover assets. Such deregistration is valid and enforceable towards third parties.

The cover register must at least contain the following information:

(a) the characteristics per series of issued Belgian covered bonds, including their nominal
value, maturity date and interest rate(s); and

(b) the characteristics of assets that constitute the cover assets, including the category, the
type of contract, the nominal value, the currency, the issue date or origination date and
the maturity date of the assets, the date of registration in the cover register, the identity
of the counterparties, information regarding redemption, interest rates, guarantees and
the valuation of the assets.

If any of the above characteristics of an asset changes, this must be reflected in the cover register
as soon as possible.

The assets, derivative contracts and outstanding debt instruments that are part of the special
estate, as well as the security interests securing such cover assets, must be registered in

accordance with the following principles:

(a) the cover assets, which are registered in the cover register, must at all times be
identifiable in the accounts and systems of the issuing credit institution;

(b) each transaction regarding cover assets must be immediately registered in the cover
register and at the latest on the same day by close of business;
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(c) each registration in and/or amendment to the cover register must be traceable;

(d) the issuing credit institution must be able to copy the content of the cover register at
all times; and

(e) at the end of each month, the content of the cover register must be copied to a durable
medium and kept for a period of 5 years after the maturity date of the Belgian covered
bonds. The cover register as well as the (back-up) copy must be kept in electronic
format, and the back-up copy must be stored in a different protected location than the
original register. The standard procedures of the issuing credit institution for back-up
and archiving can be used to this end, provided that the relevant storage method is
acceptable to the statutory auditor, the cover pool monitor, the cover pool administrator
and the NBB.

Protective measures must be taken to prevent unauthorised persons from making modifications
to the cover register, or to prevent damages to or destruction of the cover register. To this end,
the issuing credit institution must keep an updated (back-up) copy of the cover register in
another location.

Sanctions in case of breach

If the issuing credit institution is (and remains) or the Belgian covered bonds are unable to meet
the requirements which apply to it as issuing credit institution of Belgian covered bonds, the
NBB can grant a grace period during which this situation must be resolved. If the situation is
not resolved after expiry of this grace period, the NBB can revoke the credit institution’s
Specific Authorisation or appoint a cover pool administrator in accordance with Article 8 of
Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law, and the Supervisory Authority can (as the case may be
on the NBB’s request) revoke the credit institution’s General Authorisation. From the date of
withdrawal of one or more of the aforementioned authorisations, no new issue of Belgian
covered bonds may take place, not even under an existing issuance program. As mentioned
above, for so long as the issuing credit institution is in breach of the Liquidity Buffer, it shall
not be allowed to issue new Belgian covered bonds, regardless of the granting of any grace
period by the NBB.

In urgent circumstances or when the seriousness of the facts so requires, the NBB or the
Supervisory Authority (as the case may be on the NBB’s request) can revoke the issuing credit
institution’s Specific Authorisation or General Authorisation (respectively) without granting
any grace period. The Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations provide that this will not affect the
registration of outstanding cover assets. If the NBB or the Supervisory Authority decide to
revoke any of the authorisations of the issuing credit institution, the NBB must immediately
notify the ECB and the European Banking Authority (“EBA”) thereof and publish such decision
on its website without delay. A revocation of the Specific or General Authorisation of the
issuing credit institution is without prejudice to the rights of the holders of the Belgian covered
bonds and the other creditors that benefit from a dual right of recourse, and the issuing credit
institution will remain subject to the requirements of the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations
until it has fulfilled all its payment obligations under its outstanding Belgian covered bonds
(unless to the extent exempted therefrom by the NBB). As of the date of such revocation, the
relevant credit institution may not proceed to any new issue of Belgian covered bonds, including
under an existing programme.

The Supervisory Authority can also publish warnings to indicate that a credit institution has
failed to comply with the NBB’s requests to meet the requirements of the Belgian Covered
Bonds Regulations within a specified grace period. In addition, as part of its general supervisory
function under the Belgian Banking Law, the Supervisory Authority can — after hearing or
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inviting the issuing credit institution for a hearing — impose a fine of maximum EUR 2,500,000
per breach or EUR 50,000 per day of non-compliance.

The Supervisory Authority has the power to impose administrative penalties on issuing credit
institutions. Such administrative penalties may range from EUR 10,000 to 10 per cent. of the
credit institution's annual net turnover of the past financial year.

Cover pool monitor

For each issue programme or (as the case may be) stand-alone issuance, the issuing credit institution
must appoint a cover pool monitor (portefeuillesurveillant/surveillant de portefeuille) approved by the
NBB. The cover pool monitor must be an auditor who is not the statutory auditor of the issuing credit
institution. The cover pool monitor will verify and issue periodic reports to the NBB on the issuing credit
institution’s compliance with the legal and regulatory framework applicable to Belgian covered bonds.

(a) Prior to the first issuance of Belgian covered bonds

Prior to the issuance of Belgian covered bonds, the cover pool monitor must verify whether the
issuing credit institution meets the following requirements listed in Sections 1.2.5. It is the
responsibility of the cover pool monitor to determine the procedures that must be observed to
that effect. The NBB can also request that the cover pool monitor performs other tasks and
verifications.

The verifications carried out by the cover pool monitor must be sufficient to provide a
reasonable degree of certainty that the planned covered bonds issuance complies with the
relevant requirements of the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations.

(b) Following the issuance of Belgian covered bonds
Following the first issuance of Belgian covered bonds, the cover pool monitor must take all
reasonable steps to verify, at least once a year, whether the issuing credit institution complies

with the requirements set out in Section 1.2.5.

If the issuing credit institution does not comply with such requirements, the cover pool monitor
must immediately inform the NBB and the issuing credit institution.

Furthermore, the cover pool monitor must verify at least once a month whether the Cover Tests,
the Liquidity Buffer and the requirements in relation to the cover register are met. The cover
pool monitor must immediately inform the NBB and the issuing credit institution if the latter no

longer satisfies such requirements.

The appointment of the cover pool monitor will terminate upon the appointment of a cover pool
administrator.

Cover pool administrator

1.2.7.1 Appointment
The Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations provide that, in certain circumstances of distress (as
described in more detail in the paragraph below), the NBB may replace the management of the

special estate by entrusting it to a cover pool administrator.

The NBB may appoint a cover pool administrator (portefeuillebeheerder/gestionnaire de
portefeuille) in the following circumstances:
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(a) upon the adoption of a measure or sanction as referred to in Article 8, § 1, 1° of Annex
II1 to the Belgian Banking Law against the issuing credit institution if such measure or
sanction or the reason(s) why it is imposed may, in the opinion of the NBB, negatively
affect (aantasten/affecter) the rights of the noteholders and/or third parties having a
claim on the special estate;

(b) in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against the issuing credit institution
or the issuing credit institution is being resolved;

() upon the revocation of the Specific and/or General Authorisation of the issuing credit
institution; and

(d) in circumstances where the situation of the issuing credit institution is such that it may
seriously affect (ernstig in gevaar kan brengen/mettre gravement en péril) the interest
of the noteholders.

To be appointed as cover pool administrator, the candidate will have to demonstrate that it has
the necessary knowledge and experience, professional integrity and an appropriate organisation
to carry out such tasks. Credit institutions established in the European Economic Area which
are licensed to issue covered bonds with respect to similar assets or manage portfolios of
mortgage loans or other assets which qualify as cover assets, are deemed to satisfy such criteria.

Following its appointment, the cover pool administrator is legally entrusted with all powers that
are necessary for the management of the special estate. Its remit is to ensure that the obligations
towards the noteholders and the other creditors that are, or can be, identified on the basis of the
issue conditions are complied with.

Tasks and responsibilities

As from its appointment, the cover pool administrator is responsible for the management of the
Special Estate and by operation of law disposes of all powers necessary or useful for the
performance of this management, including the power to carry out any act of disposal (daden
van beschikking/actes de disposition), without any restriction. The purpose of the cover pool
administrator’s management is to ensure that the commitments set out in the terms and

conditions of the relevant Belgian covered bonds continue to be complied with.

Vis-a-vis the issuing credit institution and third parties, the cover pool administrator is further
responsible for:

e  exercising, on behalf of the special estate, any rights in rem and rights in personam;

e ensuring compliance with the obligations of the special estate, with the same
prerogatives as a true legal person; and

e asthe case may be, deciding to extend the maturity of the Belgian covered bonds.

The cover pool administrator cooperates and exhanges all necessary information with the NBB
and, as the case may be, with the resolution authority or the bankruptcy administrator.

Any acts relating to the special estate and undertaken after the appointment of the cover pool
administrator by the issuing credit institution or on its behalf by persons other than the cover

pool administrator are considered null and void, unless ratified by the cover pool administrator.

Cover Pool Administrator Royal Decree
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The Cover Pool Administrator Royal Decree specifies the tasks of the cover pool administrator.
These include, among other things, the payment of interest and principal on the covered bonds,
collection of moneys from the cover assets (including any enforcement) for the account of the
special estate, entering into derivative contracts and carrying out of certain administrative tasks.

The cover pool administrator will also have to test compliance with the Cover Tests and inform
the NBB and the noteholders’ representative of the outcome of such tests as well as of any stress
tests. In case it sells any assets, it will have to ensure that this is done at the best possible market
conditions. The consent of the NBB and the noteholders’ representative will be required for any
transaction (including a sale of any cover assets) if as a result the Cover Tests, the Liquidity
Buffer or contractual provisions would no longer be met or if there is a risk that these would no
longer be met.

The Royal Decree further specifies that the cover pool administrator will be required to consult
with the noteholders’ representative in circumstances where, following an insolvency of the
credit institution and with the consent of the NBB, it deems it necessary to liquidate the special
estate and redeem the covered bonds because it is of the view that the cover assets are no longer
sufficient to cover the obligations under the covered bonds. Such consultation with the
noteholders’ representative will in particular be required if the Cover Tests and/or the Liquidity
Buffer are no longer met.

Specific rules applicable to the Belgian covered bonds

Representation of the noteholders

The issue conditions can (and are generally expected to) provide that the noteholders will be represented
by a representative. The representative may be appointed by the issuing credit institution. Thereafter, a
representative may be appointed by the general meeting of noteholders in accordance with the issue

conditions.

The representative may be dismissed by the noteholders at a general meeting, subject to appointing one
or more (new) representatives by simple majority of votes, in replacement thereof.

The representative may represent and bind the noteholders within the boundaries of the powers that are
assigned to it (as may be specified in the relevant issue conditions or the appointment decision). The
noteholders must be consulted on any decision relating to the liquidation of the special estate upon

initiation of bankruptcy proceedings against the issuing credit institution (see below).

The representative of the noteholders can also represent other creditors of the same special estate,
provided that:

(a) the relevant creditor agrees with such representation; and

(b) the issue conditions of the relevant Belgian covered bonds contain appropriate rules to deal with
potential conflicts of interest.

The representative must perform its duties in the sole interest of the noteholders and, as the case may be,
the interest of the other creditors that it represents. Furthermore, it must give account of its performance
as may be required by the terms of the issue conditions or the appointment decision.

Limitation of the amount of Belgian covered bonds

A credit institution cannot issue any further Belgian covered bonds if the amount of cover assets exceeds
8 per cent. of the issuing credit institution’s total assets. The NBB can specify which assets are to be
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taken into account for the purpose of calculating this 8 per cent. limit and how such assets should be
valued.

The NBB can request the issuing credit institution to further limit the amount of Belgian covered bonds
to be issued if it deems this necessary in order to protect the rights of the general creditors of the issuing
credit institution, other than the noteholders.

On the other hand, the NBB may allow the issuing credit institution to issue Belgian covered bonds
beyond the 8 per cent. limit:

(a) on a temporary basis, when such would be justified due to exceptional circumstances on the
financial markets which effect the issuing credit institution and which warrant an increased use
of this source of financing. In that case, the NBB will determine a period within which the 8 per
cent limit must again be met complied with; or

(b) if the issuing credit institution’s subordinated liabilities provide sufficient protection to reach
the threshold of 8% of total liabilities, including equity, as referred to in Article 255, § 6, 3° of
the Belgian Banking Law or in Article 27(7)(a) of the SRMR.

In the report relating to the Covered Bonds Royal Decree, it is specified that such a temporary exemption
from the 8 per cent limit would be warranted in circumstances where the credit institution would no
longer have access to unsecured funding.

As of 1 January 2024, the 8 per cent. limit will no longer apply. The NBB will however remain competent
to require issuing credit institutions to limit the volume of their issue of covered bonds when such would
be required to protect the issuing credit institution's creditors other than the noteholders.

Subscription of own Belgian covered bonds

The issuing credit institution may subscribe to or invest in its own Belgian covered bonds. However, to
the extent that these Belgian covered bonds are held by the issuing credit institution, such credit
institution will not be able to exercise the rights set out in Articles 7:162 to 7:176 of the Belgian Code of
Companies and Associations) (to the extent applicable) or similar rights set out in the articles of
association of the issuing credit institution or in the issue conditions, unless otherwise provided in the
issue conditions.

Conditions to issuance of Belgian covered bonds

As set out in Section 1.1.2, an issuer can only issue Belgian covered bonds after having obtained a general
license from the Supervisory Authority authorising it to issue covered bonds (the General Authorisation)
as well as a specific license from the NBB in relation to the programme (or stand alone issue, as the case
may be) (the Specific Authorisation).

Subsequently, an issuer may be restricted from issuing further Belgian covered bonds in certain
circumstances. In particular, this could be the case if the NBB or the Supervisory Authority (as the case
may be on the NBB’s request) revoke one or more of the issuer’s authorisations (see Section 1.2.5.6) or
if the NBB imposes a certain limit on the aggregate amount of Belgian pandbrieven / European covered
bonds (premium) that can be issued and the issuer would exceed such limit with a new issue (see Section
1.3.2). Moreover, if the issuer fails to meet the Liquidity Buffer and has not remedied such situation, it
will be prevented from further issuing Belgian covered bonds as long the Liquidity Buffer is not met (see
Section 1.2.5.4).

Status and protection of the noteholders
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Dual recourse

The holders of Belgian covered bonds benefit from (i) a direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and
unsecured (chirografair/chirographaire) claim on the general estate of the issuing credit institution; (ii)
in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against the issuing credit institution or the issuing credit
institution is being resolved, an exclusive right of recourse against the assets which constitute the special
estate; and (iii) in the event liquidation proceedings are initiated against the issuing credit institution and
the special estate is not sufficient to cover for their claims, an unsecured, unsubordinated recourse against
the general estate of the issuing credit institution. The noteholders rank pari passu among themselves
(together with any other creditor specified in the issue conditions) and have exclusive claims with respect
to the assets that form the special estate. With respect to other assets (i.e., assets of the general estate) of
the issuing credit institution, noteholders rank pari passu with unsecured and unsubordinated creditors
of the issuing credit institution.

In a going concern, the expectation is that all payments falling due under the Belgian covered bonds will
be satisfied out of the general estate. Following the opening of a liquidation or resolution procedure in
respect of the issuer, payments will be made by the special estate.

Opening of bankruptcy proceedings

1.4.2.1 Protection of the special estatelf bankruptcy proceedings are opened against a credit institution
that has issued Belgian covered bonds, such bankruptcy proceedings will be limited to the
general estate of the credit institution. The special estate (including its debts, obligations and
cover assets) will not fall within the bankrupt estate of the credit institution and will be treated
separately. Moreover, the bankruptcy proceedings do not cause the obligations and debts of the
special estate to become due and payable.

In addition, creditors of the credit institution’s general estate cannot exercise any recourse
against, nor attach any assets that fall within, the special estate.

A special mechanism has been created to protect cash held by the issuing credit institution on
behalf of the special estate. Pursuant to this mechanism, the rights of the special estate as
regarding cash that cannot be identified in the general estate will be transferred to unencumbered
assets of the general estate that will be selected by taking into account criteria specified in the
issue conditions, after consultation between, on the one hand and as the case may be, the issuing
credit institution, the resolution authority or the bankruptcy administrator and on the other hand,
the cover pool monitor or cover pool administrator. These mechanics aim to reduce the
commingling risk that would arise if the bank accounts of the special estate are held with the
issuer of the covered bonds.

The bankruptcy administrator has a legal obligation to cooperate with the Supervisory Authority
and the cover pool administrator in order to enable them to manage the special estate in
accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations. In addition, Article 12/1 of Annex I1I
to the Belgian Banking Law provides that when liquidation proceedings are initiated against an
issuing credit institution or when an issuing credit institution is being resolved, the NBB, the
cover pool administrator and, as the case may be, the resolution authority must cooperate and
exchange all necessary information, inter alia to ensure that the rights and interests of the
holders of Belgian covered bonds are respected, in particular by ensuring that the issue
programme is managed continuously and in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.

The aim is for the Belgian covered bonds to remain outstanding until their stated maturity,

notwithstanding a bankruptcy or resolution of the issuing credit institution or a subsequent
transfer of the special estate to another institution.
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1.4.2.2 Liquidation of the special estate in specific circumstances

Notwithstanding the above, the cover pool administrator may, in the case of bankruptcy
proceedings and subject to consultation with the noteholders’ representative and approval of the
NBB, transfer the special estate (assets and liabilities) and its management to an institution
which will be entrusted with performing obligations to the noteholders in accordance with the
issue conditions.

In addition, the cover pool administrator may in certain circumstances proceed with the
liquidation of the special estate and with the early repayment of the Belgian covered bonds. This
is, however, only possible if, following the opening of bankruptcy proceedings against the
issuing credit institution:

(a) the cover pool administrator is of the opinion that the cover assets are not sufficient or
are at risk of being not sufficient to satisfy the obligations under the Belgian covered
bonds (subject to the approval by the NBB and consultation of the noteholders’
representative (which shall be required in case of breach of the Cover Tests or the
Liquidity Buffer)); or

(b) a decision is taken to this effect by majority vote at a noteholders’ meeting at which at
least two thirds of the outstanding principal amount of Belgian covered bonds is
represented.

In case the special estate is liquidated, the positive balance (if any) will automatically fall within
the general estate. This means that cover assets that are part of the special estate only return to
the general estate once all Belgian covered bonds have been repaid in full. However, on the
initiation of bankruptcy proceedings against the issuing credit institution, the bankruptcy
administrator is entitled, after consultation with the NBB, to require that assets which are with
certainty no longer necessary as cover assets, be re-transferred to the general estate.

Transfer of the special estate

The special estate could be transferred to a third party, either as a result of (i) the application of the
resolution tools (afwikkelingsinstrumenten/instruments de résolution) taken in accordance with Book II,
Title VIII of the Belgian Banking Law, or (ii) following the commencement of bankruptcy proceedings
or recovery measures, if the cover pool administrator decides to transfer in accordance with Article 11, 5°
of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law. The Belgian Banking Law provides that, in the case of such a
transfer, the rights of the noteholders against the special estate will be maintained and will follow the
special estate.

Investor protection and extendable maturity structures

Extendable maturity structures (verlengbare-looptijdstructuren/structures d’échéance prorogeables) are
mechanisms that offer the possibility to extend the fixed maturity of Belgian covered bonds for a
predetermined period if a specific trigger event occurs. The Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations provide

that extendable maturity structures are allowed only under the following conditions:

(a) the maturity extension triggers are specified in the contractual terms and conditions of the
Belgian covered bond;

(b) the maturity can only be extended in the following events (the “triggers”):
(1) the issuing credit institution has determined that it is unable to pay all amounts due on

the maturity date of the relevant Belgian covered bonds (“failure to pay”); and/or
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(i1) liquidation proceedings are initiated against the issuing credit institution or the issuing
credit institution is being resolved;

(c) if liquidation or resolution proceedings are initiated against the issuing credit institution, only
the cover pool administrator may decide to extend the maturity of the relevant Belgian covered
bonds; and

(d) the extended maturity date is included in the terms of issue and the extended maturity date may

not be later than one year from the original maturity date.

Article 13/1, §1, 3° of Annex III to the Belgian Banking Law currently foresees that the original maturity
of Belgian covered bonds may, by way of exception, be extended with more than one year, provided that
such extension is expressly authorised by the NBB and such extension is warranted by the circumstances.
However, this option will be abolished by the law of 20 July 2022 on the status and supervision of
stockbroking firms and containing various provisions, which enters into force on 6 October 2022, such
that an extension of the original maturity of Belgian covered bonds with more than one year will no
longer be possible as from that date.

Any extension of the original maturity of covered bonds may not affect the noteholders’ dual right of
recourse (see Section 1.4.1 above), their exclusive right of recourse against the special estate and the
bankruptcy remoteness of their claim on the special estate (see Section 1.4.2 above), nor alter the
sequencing of the programme’s original maturity schedule (looptijdenschema/ l'ordre de l'échéancier
des émissions).

In addition to the information mentioned above, the issue conditions must include a detailed description
of:

(a) the conditions for implementation and the consequences of the maturity extension;

(b) the consequences of liquidation or resolution proceedings opened in respect of the issuing credit
institution for the maturity extension; and

() the role of the cover pool administrator and the NBB in the maturity extension.
Investor information

Each credit institution issuing covered bonds must publish inter alia the following information on its
website, separately for each issue programme, within the month following the issue and, subsequently,
every month thereafter:

(a) the value of the special estate and of the relevant outstanding Belgian covered bonds and, as the
case may be, their rating;

(b) for each issue, a list of the International Securities Identification Numbers (ISINs) for all
covered bond issues under that programme, the currency in which they are issued, their
outstanding amount, their issue date, their maturity date, including the fixed expiry date in case
of maturity extension, the characteristics of their coupon and its percentage;

(©) the type of cover assets and the geographical distribution of the security interest securing their
repayment, and if the cover assets are unsecured, the geographical distribution of the domiciles
or registered offices of the debtors, the amount outstanding on the relevant receivables and the
valuation method;
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additional information pertaining to to market risk, including interest rate risk and currency risk,
and credit and liquidity risks;

the maturity structure of cover assets and covered bonds, including an overview of the maturity
extension triggers and the final maturity dates of the covered bonds, if applicable;

the level of required cover assets, including the level of the excess cover required by the Belgian
Covered Bonds Regulations or the issue conditions, as well as the level of the voluntary excess
cover; and

the percentage of receivables for which a default is considered to have occurred pursuant to

Article 178 CRR, as well as the percentage of receivables that are 30 days (or more) past due
but for which no default is considered to have occurred pursuant to Article 178 CRR.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE MORTGAGE PANDBRIEVEN

Unless otherwise specified, the following is the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven,
save for the paragraphs in italics that shall not form part of the Terms and Conditions of the Mortgage
Pandbrieven. To the extent permitted by applicable law and/or regulation, the Final Terms in respect of any Series
of Mortgage Pandbrieven shall complete any information in this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer may also issue from time to time Mortgage Pandbrieven under the Issuer’s Belgian Mortgage
Pandbrieven Programme (the “Programme’”) which shall be subject to terms and conditions and/or final terms
not contemplated by the base prospectus adopted in relation to the Programme (the “Base Prospectus”). In such
circumstances, the relevant terms or form of terms of such Mortgage Pandbrieven will be set out in a schedule to
the Programme Agreement (as defined below).

References in these terms and conditions (the “Terms and Conditions™) to “Mortgage Pandbrieven” are to the
Mortgage Pandbrieven of one Series (as defined below) only, not to all Mortgage Pandbrieven that may be issued
under the Programme. All capitalised terms which are not defined in these Terms and Conditions will have the
meanings given to them or refer to information specified in Part A of the relevant Final Terms.

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are issued pursuant to the programme agreement dated 30 September 2022 (as
amended, supplemented, replaced and/or restated from time to time, the “Programme Agreement”) between the
Issuer, Stichting Argenta Mortgage Pandbrieven Noteholders’ Representative, as Noteholders’ Representative in
its capacity as representative of the Noteholders and of any other creditors that are holders of claims covered by
the Special Estate and that have agreed to be so represented (the “Noteholders’ Representative”) and any other
party named therein. The powers and rights conferred on the Noteholders’ Representative are laid down in these
Terms and Conditions, the rules of organisation of the Noteholders as set out in Schedule 1 to the Terms and
Conditions of the Mortgage Pandbrieven (the “Rules of Organisation of the Noteholders”) and in the contractual
arrangements between the Noteholders’ Representative and the Issuer (the noteholders’ representative agreement,
dated 30 September 2022 the “Noteholders’ Representative Agreement”). Furthermore, the Mortgage
Pandbrieven will have the benefit of a paying, calculation and listing agency agreement dated on or about 30
September 2022 (as amended, supplemented, replaced and/or restated from time to time, the “Agency
Agreement”) between, amongst others, Argenta Spaarbank SA/NV (“Argenta Spaarbank” or the “Issuer”),
Belfius Bank SA/NV as paying agent (the “Paying Agent”), Banque Internationale a Luxembourg SA as listing
agent (the “Listing Agent”) and Belfius Bank SA/NV as calculation agent (the Calculation Agent). The
expressions “Paying Agent” and “Listing Agent” shall include any successor or other paying or listing agent
appointed from time to time pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement. The Paying Agent, the Calculation
Agent and the Listing Agent are together referred to as the “Agents” and each of them taken individually as an
“Agent”. The Noteholders (as defined below) are deemed to have notice of and have accepted to be bound by all
of the provisions of the Programme Agreement, the Noteholders’ Representative Agreement and the Agency
Agreement applicable to them.

As used herein, “Tranche” means Mortgage Pandbrieven which are identical in all respects (including as to listing
and admission to trading) and “Series” means a Tranche of Mortgage Pandbrieven together with any further
Tranche or Tranches of Mortgage Pandbrieven which (a) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series
and (b) identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) save as to the issue date, the issue
price, the first interest payment thereon and/or the date from which interest starts to accrue. In these Terms and
Conditions, “euro”, “EUR”, and “€” means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European
economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

Copies of the Programme Agreement, the Noteholders’ Representative Agreement and the Agency Agreement

are available, during normal business hours on any Business Day, for inspection free of charge at the specified
offices of the Paying Agent.
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1.

Type, Form, Denomination and Title

(@

(b)

Type of Belgian pandbrieven

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are issued as Belgian pandbrieven (Belgische pandbrieven/lettres
de gage belges) / European covered bonds (premium) (Europese gedekte obligatie
(premium)/obligation garantie européenne (de qualité supérieure)), in accordance with the
Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations and are covered by the same special estate (bijzonder
vermogen/patrimoine spécial) (the “Special Estate”). The primary asset class of the Special
Estate will consist of the Issuer’s residential mortgage loans within the meaning of the Belgian
Covered Bonds Regulations (the “Residential Mortgage Loans”, and together with any other
assets registered as cover assets (dekkingsactiva/actifs de couverture), the “Cover Assets”). The
Issuer shall procure that the value of the Residential Mortgage Loans which are part of the
Special Estate calculated in accordance with the Belgian Covered Bonds Regulations (and
including any collections in respect thereof) represents at all times at least 105 per cent. of the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Mortgage Pandbrieven of all Series. The NBB
has admitted the Programme to the list of authorised programmes for the issuance of covered
bonds under the category Belgian pandbrieven (Belgische pandbrieven/lettres de gage belges)
/ European covered bonds (premium) (Europese gedekte obligatie (premium)lobligation
garantie européenne (de qualité supérieure)) on 19 January 2021. Upon so being notified by
the Issuer, the NBB shall regularly update such list with the Mortgage Pandbrieven issued under
the Programme and shall indicate that the Mortgage Pandbrieven constitute Belgian
pandbrieven / European covered bonds (premium) under the Belgian Covered Bonds
Regulations.

Form and Denomination

The Mortgage Pandbrieven are issued in dematerialised form in the Specified Denomination set
out in the relevant Final Terms, provided that the minimum Specified Denomination of each
Mortgage Pandbrief shall be EUR 100,000. (and integral multiples thereof).

In these Terms and Conditions, “Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129,
as amended from time to time.

Mortgage Pandbrieven are issued in dematerialised form in accordance with the Belgian
Companies and Associations Code (Wetboek van Vennootschappen en Verenigingen/Code des
Sociétés et des Associations) and cannot be physically delivered. The Mortgage Pandbrieven
will be represented exclusively via a book-entry system maintained in the records of the
Securities Settlement System (as defined below) and will be credited to the accounts held with
the Securities Settlement System by Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear Bank™), Clearstream
Banking Frankfurt (“Clearstream”), SIX SIS AG (“SIX SIS”), Euronext Securities Milan
S.p.A. (“Euronext Securities Milan”), any other national or international NBB investors
central securities depositories (NBB investor (I)CSDs)’ or other Securities Settlement System
participants for credit by Euroclear Bank, Clearstream, SIX SIS, Euronext Securities Milan, any
other NBB investor (I)CSDs or other Securities Settlement System participants to the securities
accounts of their subscribers and through other financial intermediaries which in turn hold the
Mortgage Pandbrieven through Euroclear, Clearstream, SIX SIS, Euronext Securities Milan,
any other NBB investor (I)CSDs or other Securities Settlement participants. The Mortgage
Pandbrieven are accepted for clearance through the Securities Settlement